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THE HISTORY OF SAINT JOSEPH'S ... a continuing series of articles
on various facets of parish history ... by Fr. Harry Morrison.

BERKELEY: THE WAY IT WAS

In 1878, the year in which the town of Berkeley was incor-
porated and the year the Sisters of the Presentation came to the
East Bay, there were, in fact, two "towns" in Berkeley. To the -
East, at the foot of the hills, north of Strawberry Creek, lay the
recently opened University of Califormia campus and the small
settlement of residences and rooming houses mainly to the south
of the campus. To the West, between the County Road (San Pablo
Avenue) and the bay, stood the town of Ocean View, a cluster of
houses surrounding several early industries near the two wharfs

at the foot of Delaware Street and University Avenue. The two
towns were jolned by little else than a wide dirt road, Univer-
gity Avenue, connecting the bay and West Berkeley with the
Campus.

Even though the University of California had been chartered
in 1868, it did not move from its original site in Oakland to
the Berkeley Campus until 1873. By 1878 only two buildings, the
imposing North and South Halls, stood on the spacious campus laid
out and planted in 1869 by Frederick Law Olmstead, the noted land-
scape architect. The main business street of the area was the
Telegraph Road, along which a steam~dummy street-car brought
students and others to and from Oakland. Direct competition to
the business district and transportation system along Telegraph
Road had come by 1876 when F. K. Shattuck and others laid out a
"branch line” railroad from the Oakland mole railroad yards out
present Adeline Street and right through the middle of Shattuck's
extensive property in central Berkeley. Shattuck's train stopped
at the Shattuck Avenue station between Addison and University
Avenues, thereby guaranteeing that Shattuck Ave. and the property
bordering it—all once owned by Mr. Shattuck—would be the main
business district of Berkeley.

To the West, Ocean View had grown by 1878 from a country inm,
short wharf and a few scattered houses in the early 1850's, into
a developed town laid out by the Berkeley Land and Town Improvement
Association. Residents were mostly factory workers, small mer-
chants and commuters to Ozkland and San Framcisco. There was no
college in West Berkeley, and no saloons in East Berkeley, and
therein lies the great difference between the two towns.

—to be continued ...



THE EISTORY OF $T. JOSEPH'S ... a continuing series of articles
on various facets of parish history, by Father Harry Morrison.

PART II - The Need for a Berkeley Parish.

The two towns were separated by a great expanse of farmland
and vacant lots. The farms worth of the University Avenue bad
already been largely subdivided into lots by 1878 but to the
gouth of che Avenue lay the farms of James McGae, Peter Machews
and others. The first American to farm in Berkeley had been
Michael Curtis, whose farmland just easst of San Pablo Avenue
had extended from University Avenue north te what is now Hopkins
Street. A number of these early farmers were Irishmen who formed,
along with many of the polyglot residents of Ocean View, the
beginnings of the Catholic community in Berkeley.

Before the Americans came, the Peralta Family and residents
on their ranchos attended Mass at a chapel on the rancho of
Vicente Peralta at Temescal Creek, now the site of St. Albert's
Dominican Priory, whenever a circuit-riding Spanish-speaking
priest passed through the area. By the 1850's, Irish and Ameri-
can Catholics moving into a rapidly growing Oakland and buying
farms to the north as far as and beyond Berkeley, needed an
English-speaking priest to minister to them. Some Catholics
crossed the bay to St. Patrick's Church in San Francisco or
travelad all cthe way down to the old Missiom San Jose.

Tn 1853, a mission was established in Oakland which became
a parish in 1858, dedicated to St. Mary of the Assumption, socon
after called St. Mary, Immaculate Conception. The early Berkeley
Catholics attended Mass ar 5t. Mary's, traveling down along the
San Pablo Rnad to 7th and Jefferson Streets in Oaskland. It was
to this church that Peter Gunette, an Ocean View blacksmith,
brought his baby daughter to be baptized Evangeline Marie
Berkeley Gumette in 1875. Like other Catholics, the families
of Berkeley were eager to provide Catholic education for their
children. When Father Michael King of St. Mary's brought the
Boly Names Sisters to Oakland, and bought for them the site of
the Sacred Heart Convent (1868) on the shores of Lake Merritt,
several Berkeley families sent their daughters there. But the
distance was great and the trek down San Pablo Road was hard.

In 1869, the mission at the San Pablo Rancho was erected and
became St. Paul's Parish. Father Michael Gualco began a miniscry
on horseback among the Catholic farmers between Pinole and
Berkeley. By the 1870's, he was saying Mass at Michael Curtis's
farm for the residents of West Berkeley. Ome of the farm build-
ings—"Ed Brennan's Barn"—served as a chapel for the fledgling
Catholic community of Berkeley. Though located in West Berkeley,
Catholics came to this chapel from as far away as the Curran

Ranch in Wild Cat Canyon. Berkeley was included in the new Sacred
Heart Parish in Qakland in 1876, but Berkeley Catholics continued
to attend Mass on the Curtis Ranch whenever Fr. Gualco came to
town.

By 1876, Berkeley Catholics felt the need for a more regular
religious life and especially some substantial religious education
for their children. On hearing that the Presentation Sisters,
proprietors of two flourishing schools in San Francisco, were
looking for a location outside the City for a new comnvent, three
Berkeley Cathelics, Peter Mathews, Michael Curtis and James McGee,
made separate offers to the Sisters in the hepe of attracting
them to Berkeley to found a school and provide the foundation for
permanent Catholic life In Berkeley.

-=T0O BE CONTINUED



THE BISTORY OF ST. JOSEPE'S ... a continuing series of articles on
various facets of parish hiscery, by Fr. Barry Morrison.
PART III - The Beginnings of a Berkeley Parish.

One hundred years ago the end of this month, Catholicism had
its formal beginning in Berkeley with the foundation of che St.
Joseph's Presentation Convent and Academy by the Sisters of the
Presentation. Who were the Sisters and what brought them to
Berkeley? The Sisters of the Presentation of the Blessed Virgin
Mary were founded Iin 1777 in Cork, Ireland, by Honora (Nano) Nagle,
a wealthy lay woman of Cork. WNamo Nagle had been aducated in France
because Catholic education was not permitted in Ireland at the time.
Protestant England ruled Ireland with an iron fise, forbidding all
educacion except that in the State "Charter" Schoola where children
were weaned away from the culture=—and religion—of their parents.
Resisting the govermment, Nano Nagle, with the encouragement of
Francis Moylan, later Bishop of Cork, used part of her fortume to
bring French and Irish Ursulines nuna from Paris to open a school
for the Catholics of Cork. In time, Nano became disenchanted with
the tendency of the Ursuline schools to serve only the needs of the
wealthy. Therefores, she formed about herself a community of women
dedicared to serving the needs of the poor rather than the rich.
June 24, 1777, four woman made religious profession at Cork in an
active minigtry exclusively for the ueeds of the poor. They specifi-
cally chose to differ from the Ursulines, whose cloigtered lives cut
them off from tha lives of the poor. Nano Nagle's communiry, which
in time became known ags the Sisters of the Presentation, founded
free schools for the poor in Cork, Dublin and other cities. The
English govermment gave a begrudging tolerance to these schools,
recognizing their success, and the failure of the Charter Schools
to educate the Irish. Freedom for Cathalic education was finally
granted in 1831, due in part to the success of the schools of the
Prasentation Sisters which had spread throughout all Ireland.

In 1853, Joseph Sadoe Alemany, Bighop of Monterey, was made
Archbishop of San Francisco, With the remmants of the mission
system crumbling, and with large numbers of immigrants—Ilargely
Irish and Cacholic——pouring into Gold Rush California, Alemany was
in desperate straits to provide miniscries to meet the needs of
his rapidly expanding archdiocese. In early 1854, he sent Rev.
Hugh Gallagher to Europe to recruit priests and religious for the
California Church. He secured a commmnity of the Sisters of Mercy
under the leadership of the great Mother Mary Baptist Russell, who
founded St. Mary's Hospital, and a living legend, in San Francisco.
Fr. Gallagher also approached the Sisters of the Presentation
Convent, Middieton, Cork. Five members of the Middleton community
agreed to commit themgelves cto the California mission. At the lastc
minute, one fell 111, and the Superior remembered the desire of
Sr. Mary Teresa Comerford of the Kilkenny Convent to serve in the
foreign missions. Hasty negotiations sacured Sister Teresa for
the group. The five Presentation Sisters, accompanied by Fr.
Gallagher, nine Sisters of Mercy, and several priests sailed from
Ireland on September 21, 1854, bound for New York and Califormia.
Sister Teresa, an eleventh-hour addition to the party and an
"extern to the Middleton community of Sisters,” became the found-
ress of the inscitutions of the Presentation Sisters in San Fran-—
eisco and the Convent Academy in Berkeley.

In the autumm of 1854, cthe five Siaters arrived in bustling
San Framcisco only to find they had no proper lodgings. Socnm,
Alemany was able to provide them with a house on Green Street in
which chey opened a school on December 1, 1854. .In a short period
of time, the school had two hundred students, and plans were made
for a more permaneat convent. From the beginning, the Middleton
Sisters had misgivings about the California mission. Though the
trest voted to return to Ireland, Sr. Teresa Comerford was deter-
mined te remain. She prevailed upon Mother Mary Xavier Daly to
stay with her. The other three returned to Ireland while Mary
Teresa and Mary Xavier remained with ome recruit to form the
foundation of the California Presentation Sisters. November 8,
1855, Mary Teresa Comerford was formally appointed Superior of the
commmunity, and one month later, on December 3, 1855, the Sisters
moved into their new convent onm Powell Screet.



The Powell Street school was very successful, attracting
hundreds of students. The Sisters charged no tuition. In this
country, the commmunity was sustained by the free will gifts of the
people, whereas in Ireland it had been sustained by the dowries of
incoming postulants. In spite of a chronlc lack of funds and the
burden of a cloistered enclosure, the community thrived. Recruits
came from Ireland and a few from among the young women of San
Francisco. In 1868, the community began a new convent "in the

south of the City" at Taylor and Ellis Streecs in Sam Francisco.
¥Known as the Sacred Heart Convent, the school opened May 24, 1869,
with nearly four hundred students, including the children of some

of the wealthiest families inm San Framcisco. Eight Sisters from
Powell Street, including Mother Teresa, formed the new community of
which Mother Teresa was elected Superior. This school was even more
successful than Powell Street, and by 1870 additional space was
needed to accommodate the increasing number of students.

In the ten years following the opening of the Taylor and Ellis
Street Convent, the Sisters of the Presentation comsolidated their
position of prominence in the educational life of San Francisco. As
the City grew, so did the prestige of the Presentation Convents. But
San Francisco was not an unmixed blessing for the community. The
climate of the City seemed unhealthy for the Sisters. In the first
twelve years, twelve of them died of consumption, some still novices
in their teens. For this reason, and alsc for the natural urge to
expand the apostolate, Mother Teresa looked for a location ocutside of
the City for a new convent. San Rafael was proposed, but that plan
fell through. San Pablo, North Oakland, and San Leandro were also
proposed. Three Irish landowners in Berkeley also invited Mother
Teresa to locate in the plains of Berkeley. Peter Mathews, Michael
Curtis, and James McGee all offered to donate land if the Sisters
would found a school on their farms. After visiting Berkeley in
1877, Mother Teresa chose to accept the larger and more centrally
located McGee donation. We can only speculate whether the healthier
climate and proximity to the University of California were factors
inducing Mother Teresa to locate in Berkeley. In any event, on
April 20, 1877, James McGee deeded to Mother Mary Teresa Comerford
two and seven-tenths acres in the northwest cormer of his farm. A
month later, on May 27, 1877, the cornerstone for the new convent was
laid. By the end of the year the building was finished. On Christ-
mas Day, 1877, Father Gualcc said Mass in the convent for the Catho-
lics of Berkeley. It was not until the following Jume 27, 1878, that
eight Sisters left the Sacred Heart Presentation Convent at Taylor
and Ellis Streets. Led by Mocher Teresa, who then became Superior
of her third Presentaction Community in California, Sisters Mary
Josephine Hagarty (assistant superior and mistress of novices), Mary
Evangelisc Marphy (burser}, Mary Regis Healy, Margaret Mary Flood,
Mary La Salette Maguire, Mary Veronica Grace, and Mary Conception
Flood, entered the carriage for the ferry to Berkeley.

Met on the East side of the bay by Mr. McGee's carriages, they
came up the gentle slope of the Berkeley plains to the new convent.
The Sisters spent the rest of the day cleaning out the buildings.
The following day, Friday, June 28, 1878, the Feast of the Sacred
Heart—a feast dear to Mother Teresa—Father Gualco came from San
Pablo to say the first Mass for the Presentation community in their



new home. Mother Teresa conmsidered this day-—and this Mass—the
foundation of the St. Joseph's Presentation Convent. Two days
later, June 30, 1878, Sunday, the convent was formally dedicacred.
Large crowds came from Qakland and San Francisco, as well as from
Berkeley, for the ceremony. Archbishop Alemany had been scheduled
to perform the dedicarion and blessing, but he missed the regular
ferry from San Francisco, and arrived two hours late, after the
ceremony was over. In the meantime, Father Michael King of St.
Mary's Church in Oakland, assisted by Fathers John Prendergast
{Vicar General of the Archdiocese), P. Michael Gualco {pastor of
St. Paula's, San Pablo, and chaplain to the convent), Johm B.
McNally {pastor of St. Pacrick's, Oakland), and Lawrence Serda
{pastor of Sacred Heart, Oakland, the local parish), went ahead
with the dedication. Fr. Prendergast spoke, and ther the building,
rooms, site, and grounds were blessed and dedicated to Saint Joseph.
As the San Francisco Monitor reported: '"Archbishop Alemany arrived
at the conclusion of the ceremonies, when he took occasion to con-
grarulate the Sisters on the beautiful site of the convent, its
symmerTy and situacion, and expressed his deep gratitude to the
generous Irishman, Mr. James McGae, for his liberality in dorating
the lot on which the convent is erectad."

... T0 BE CONTINUED

THE HISTORY OF ST. JOSEPE'S ... a continuing geries of articles om
various facets of parish history, by Fr. Harry Morrisom.
PART IV - The Pastorate of Pierce Comerford.

Soon after the founding of the Presentation Convent on James
McGee's farm in the summer of 1878, it becazme apparent that the
services of a priest permanenrly located in Berkeley would be required.
Berkeley had been part of Sacred Heart Parish founded two years before
by Father Lawrence Serda. Few Berkeley Catholica traveled all the
way to Sacred Heart at Fortierh and Grove Streets in Oakland for Mass.

Father P. Michael Gualeco of St. Paul's Church, San Pablo, had been
coming to Berkeley by horse celebrating Mass at the Michael Curtis
ranch and later inm the new coovent. A priest coming once a week, no
matter how dedicated, could not meet the needs of either the new
convent or the growing Catholic Community of Berkeley. Aware of
her comunity's needs and the inability of Archbishop Alemany to
gend a priest te the Berkeley misgion, Mother Mary Teresa Comerford
wrote to haer brother-—then convalescing in Ireland—the Very Rever-
end Plerce Michael Comerford.

As a young deacon, Plerce Comerford had left his diocese of
Ossary in Ireland to volunteer for the Vicariate Apostolic of
Mauritius, an island in the Indian Ocean, once a colony of France,
now in the possession of the British. Ordained a priest upon his
arrival in 1845, Fr. Comerford gave thirty years of his life to the
task of building up the Church im this struggling, malarial outpost.
His ministry was phenomenally successful. Be built churches and
schools and brought religious orders to the newly created diocese
of Port Louis. He became Vicar General of the Diocese of Port
Louis, serving as administraror of the diocese on two occasions.

In 1862, Pope Pius IX named Fr. Comerford Titular Bishop of Megara
and Auxiliary to Bishop William Collier of Port Louis. Though the
priests of the diocese were officially notified of his homor, Pierce
resisted the appointment. Firally, in September 1863, the Popae
accepted his request to be dispensed from the office of Bishop.
Father Comerford did retain the honorary doctorate of divinity con-
ferred on him which entitled him to be referred to as "Very Reverend"
for the rest of his life. With his health broken by malaria and
thirty-cne years in the Indian QOcean tropics, Plerce resigned from
the Diocese of Port Louis and left Mauritius in early 1876 to recire
to Ireland. He did not rest long before his sister, Mother Teresa
Comerford, prevailed upon him to come toc Califormia to serve her
community and the Catholics of Berkeley. She pressured his decision
by arguing that the wonderful climate of Berkeley would be far more
beneficial to his health than the cold of Ireland.



Arriving in San Francisco cm October 9, 1878, Doctor Comerford
was appointed assistant pastor of Sacred Heart Church in Qakland with
residence in Berkeley and responsibility for the Catholics of
Berkelaey and the Presentation Convent. He rented two rooms in the
home of a Mrs. Lynch at University and what is now McGee Street. He
said daily Mass at the Convent and on Sundays the classroom wing of
the Couvent became the Church for the people of Berkeley. Within six
months Dr. Comerford's ministry had developed sufficiently that ino
April 1879, Archbishop Alemany created Berkeley a parish and named
Pierce Comerford first pastor. The new parish was bounded by the
Bay on the West, the crest of the Berkeley hills om cthe East. The
Southern boundary was Russell Street while the Northern boundary
extendad into Concra Costa County im what is now E1 Cerrito. The

first thing the new pastor did was to build a house for himself
with his own money on land given him by James McGee. The house,
which was moved twice, remodeled often, and torn down in 1961 with
the construction of the new Rectory, stood on the site of the
present St. Joseph's Church. That completed, Dr. Comerford set
about to expand Catholic education in Berkeley. When Archbishop
Alemany administered Confirmation in Berkeley in October 1880,
Comerford asked his parmisaion tc erect a school for boys. Againm,
Mr. McGee gave the land and Comerford built the school with his own
funds. He sold his horse to furnish the school. The school opened
January 2, 1881, and was named St. Peter's Boys' School in honor of
the pastor's patron saint. The Sisters of the Presentation staffed
the school. Before this school was a year old, the community in
Berkeley had the unhappy task of welcoming back the body of Mother
Mary Teresa Comerford, who died August 2, 1881 and was buried in
the small convent cemerery on the bank of Strawberry Creek August 3,
1881.

Having started the school for boys, Plerce Comerford set about
his second and major task in Berkeley—the erection of old St.
Joseph's Church. fThe architect was Bryan Clinch, vwho designed many
beautiful, small, wooden Gothic churches throughout Northern Cali-
fornia in the second half of the nineteenth century. It was agreed
to build the Church between the convent and Addison Street, partially
on land James McGee had given to Teresa Comerford, amd partially om
a new donation of land McGee gave for the church. Construction was
begun in March 1883, and the unfinished building was formally dedi-
cated the following September 16 by Archbishop Alemany. Imciden-
tally, the same day Alemany dedicated St. Joseph's Church, in far
away Chicago Patrick Riordan, a men who would have an Iimportant role
in the history of St. Joseph's and the Sisters of the Presentatiom,
was being comsecratad Coadjutor Archbishop of San Francisco. Riordan
commented on this happy coincidence when he made his first visit to
Berkeley the following December. Due to a lack of money, the Church
was not finished until 1886, when the stained glass windows were
installed. Dr. Comerford himself donmated the largest and most
expensive window. The Church was paid for by a series of very
successful annual fairs which attracted the interest of all of
Berkeley and evern San Francisco. This church remained the parish
church of St. Joseph's until 1908 when the new St. Joseph's was
dedicated. From 1908 to 1913 it served as the chapel for the convent.
In 1913 it was torn down to make room for the wing of the convent
builc on the site which stood until 1966.

In addition to the schools and the annual fairs, the life of the
St. Joseph's Community was enhanced by parish missions. The first of
these was conducted in May 1884 by the famous Indian Jesuilt James
Bouchard. This and later missions were considered very successful
and were significant in deepening the faith commitment of the



scattered Catholics of Berkeley. As the years wore om, the

Catholic Community of Berkeley grew. In 1886, Dr. Comerford
received his firsc assistant, John A. Lally, who was teplaced the
same year by Rev. James MacDonald. In the summer of 1888, wmore
rooms were needed for the growing boys' school. Dr. Comerford

paid for this construction out of his owm funds—a small pension

he received from the British government for his years of work in
Mauritius. Dr. Comerford's labor in Berkeley had established the
firm foundation of Catholic parochial educarion in Berkeley which
has prospered down to our own time in Saint Joseph's Elementary
School. He was a highly respected member of the commmnity and a
friend of the University. As an example of his generosity and
breadth of spirit, he donated the collected works of John Henry
Cardinal Newvman to the young library of che University of Califormnia.
He worked untirjngly with the Catholics in the Califormia School for
the Deaf and Blind in Berkeley. His interest in the deaf was
further shown years later whem St. Joseph's Home for Deaf Mutes at
Fortieth and Grove was in desperate straits for funds. Dr. Comer-
ford gave from his own pocket the momey which allowed the school

to continue.

The many years in the tropics of Mauritius and the ten years
establishing the parish in Berkeley had taken their toll of Dr.
Comerford. In 1889, he asked permission of Archbishop Riordan to
resign, a permission reluctantly granted. Be was named chaplain
to the Dominican Sisters at San Rafael and then retired to che
Sanitarium of his friend, the Honorable Miles 0'Connor inm San Jose.
This sanitarium, endowed by the wealthy Judge and former mining
entrepreneur, was the forerumner of the present O'Comnnor Hospital
in San Jose. Pierce Comerford was hardly in retirement even at
the sanitarium. He served without pay as chaplain not only of
0'Connor Sanitarium, but also of the Santa Clara County Hospital
nearby. 1t was on a visity to the County Hospital to visit the
patiencs that the eighty-six-year-old Dr. Comerford was throwm
from his buggy in an accident. He rallied for several months and
then died on December 19, 1905, one of the oldest priests in Cali-
fornia, having outlived both of his siters, both Pioneer Presenta-
tion Sisters in California.

Very Reverend Pilerce Michael Comerford was much revered in
Berkeley, not only by the Catholics, but by non-Catholics as well.
An early Berkeley newspaper, the Advocate, of August 5, 1882, had
this to say about him: '"We believe in and shall encourage the
advancement of any and all religions, and it gives us pleasure to
say right here that Father Comerford enjoys a degree of popularity
among Protestants even of which any Protestant clergymsn might well
be proud. Father Comerford is a broad-minded gentleman in the best
sense of that term."

«++ PART V, next issue.

THE HISTORY OF ST. JOSEPH'S ... a continuing series of articles on
various facets of parish history, by Fr. Harry Morrisom.

PART V - The Pastorates of Thomas Phillips (1889-1899) and Michael
0'Riordan (1899-1905).

Berkeley's growth through the last quarter of the nineteentch
century had been rapid. In 1870, long before incorporationm, yet
Just prior to the opening of the University, the population numbered



around four hundred and fifty. By 1880, two years after incor-
poration, the figure had jumped to about two thousand. By 1890,

it was over five thousand. And yet, through this period, Barkeley's
early character had beem little changed. There still existed two
communities in one—the residentfal-industrial area of West
Berkeley, and the University community of East Berkeley; the town
remained essentially rural. Though subdivision into real estate
lots was becoming more common, the broad central ares of Berkeley
remained farmland. To the northeast stretched sparsely treed hills.
From the south, the city of Oakland was approaching. In the two
decades from 1890 to 1910, the population jumped again, from five
thousand to forty thousand, the farms disappeared, the empty spaces
filled with houses and Berkeley was transformed from a town into a
city, soon to become the fourth largest city in California.

During these years of rapid growth, Berkeley's Catholics were
guided by two priests who are the most readily forgotten and
unsung pastors of St. Joseph's, Revs. Thomas Phillips (pastor 1899-
1899) and Michael O'Riordan (1899-1905)., Iromically, Father
O'Riordan's assistant, upon leaving Berkeley, became one of Cali-
fornia's most influential churchmen as Archbishop of Los Angeles—
John J. Cantwell.

The origins of Thomas Phillips and Michael Q'Riordan are similar
and significant. Born ir Ireland at the midpoint of the nineteenth
century, they were both students at All Hallows College on the out-
skirts of Dublin, and from there came to California to give cheir
lives to the service of the Church far from their native land. All
Hallows was a seminary of great importance in the history of the
American Church and especially in the Church of California. This
seminary sent hundreds of priests to the burgeoning American Church;
dozens of these came to California to strengthen the ministry among
the rapidly increasing and heavily Irish-Catholic population of
Norcthern Califormia.

All Hallows' contribution to Califormia began early. Onm June 30,
1850, Joseph Sadoc Alemany was consecrated first Bishop of Montarey
in Rome. On his way back to the United States he stopped at religious
houses in Europe to solicit volunteers for the Church in California.
Several days before California was admitted to the Union as the
thirty-firsc state, Alemany received a warm welcome from the faculty
and students at All Hallows. Several students offered their
services to California, but the greatest catch was a faculty member,
Rev. Eugene 0'Connell, who volunteered to go to Califormia, not so
much to serve the pioneer Catholic immigrants, but rather to solicit
funds among the wealthy gold discoverers for the struggling seminary
of A1l Hallows. In 1861, 0'Connell was named a bishop to care for
the Catholiecs of California and Nevada north of the Bay Area. Whether
as missionary priest, seminary professor or gold rush Bishop, Eugene

0'Connell centinued to encourage students at All Hallows to volun—
teer themselves for the Church in California. Two of the twenty-
five All Hallows graduates who came to California in the 1870's
became pastors in Berkeley.

Thomas Phillips was born in Ireland in 1848 at the time of the
Potato Famine. Ordained from All Hallows on June 24, 1872, he came
to California to miniscer in the southern mines of the Siarra.
Phillips served as pastor of St. Patrick's Church, Sonora, from
1874 to 1885 before taking charge of St. Alphomsus Church in Suisun.
In June 1889, he was made pastor of St. Joseph's, Berkeley, to
replace Father Pilerce Comerford, who had resigned because of poor
health. The major work of Phillips' pastorate was the effort to
keep abreast of the growth of the Catholic community in Berkeley,
and of the Presentation Community in the Couvent.



The pioneer Irish farmers and store owners were giving way to
workers, commuters and students of all nationalities and positions
in 1ife. West Berkeley, especially, was growing, f£illing with a
heavily Catholic and cosmopolitan population. St. Joseph's Church,
built in the heart of Berkeley's farmland, was separated from this
growing area. Anticipating the need for a church in West Berkeley,
Father Phillips bought a2 lot at the southeast corner of Eighth and
Addison Streets. A church was never built on this site, though a
number of years later, inm 1909, St. Ambrose parish was established
in northwest Berkeley.

The most critical need of 5t. Joseph's during Phillips' pastor-
ate was the need to build a new schocl. At this time, St. Joseph's
conducted two schools: a grammar school for boys, built and
enlarged by Father Comerford, and an academy for girls, covering
the elementary and high school years, built and run by the Sisters
of the Presentation. As the Catholic population of Berkeley grew
and as the reputations of the schools spread, the facilities of the
original convent became overburdened. To add to the congestion of
the convent community and twelve grades of classes in one building,
the Berkeley Presentation community had assumed a new role in its
Order. According to the constitutions of the Sisters of the Presen~-
tation at this time, each convent of the Order was an autonomous
unit; that is, it received and trained its own novices, governed its
own affairs and maintained a stable, non-revolving community. Mother
Mary Teresa Comerford had petitioned for amalgamation of the Cali-
fornia Presentation communities to allow for greater cemtralization
and mutual help within the Order. Archbishop P. W. Riordan of San
Francisco agreed that amalgamarion was to the benefit of the Sisters
and of the Church in general. With the Archbishop's encouragement,
the Sisters were permitted to amalgamate their four California
houses into ome province. At z special Chapter of the Sisters on
June 8, 1889, it was decided that the Berkeley Convent would become

the province's new general novitiate. The establishment of a
novitiate for the whole province within the Berkeley Convent made
the construction of new schoel facilities egsential,

Facher Phillips began borrowing money to buy more land adjacent
to the convent to build a new school. The boys' school was moved
down the lot toward Strawberry Creek and the new school was built
on its site. The two-story structure of spacious rooms was dedi-
cated July 17, 1892, The grammar school girls attended classes on
the first floor and the high school girls studied on the second
floor. The old convent building was—for the time being, anyway—
restored to the relacive peace and quiet of a religious cloister.
Fr. Phillips' school building remains today as the oldest sgection
of any of the buildings built at St. Joseph's. Ia 1923-24, it was
remodeled as the north wing of the new St. Joseph's Presentation
Academy. The interior of the north wing of the current Presencation
High School, with a few changes, is the original school built by
Father Phillips in 1892,

Phillips was transferred to St. Raphael's Church {n San Rafael
on July 16, 1899, where he served for almost'thirteen years. While
there, he remained a friend of the Presentation Sisters, securing
for them a summer house in San Rafael. He died in San Francisco
vhile pastor of St. Raphael's, on January 8, 1913.



Father Michael O'Riordan replaced Thomas Phillips at St.
Joseph's in July of 1899. O0'Riordan, like Phillips, had been born
in Ireland and came to the mining country of California from All
Hallows, Dublin, in the early 1870's. While Phillips had served in
Sonora, 0'Riordan was assistant to Father William B. 0'Comnor,
pastor of St. Mary's, Stockton. From Stockton, Father Q'Riocrdan
ministered to the churches of the Sierraz mining camps. For a time,
he was given charge of the Mission of San Andreas, serving the out-
lying gold rush towns of Mokelumne Hill, Murphy's, Angel's Camp,
Copperopolis, and West Point. After a short time in San Rafael,
he became paster of Nativity Church in Menlo Park, where he remained
from 1881 to 1899. It would seem that the Limerick-born priest was
very popular in the San Mateo County community. He aided in the
establishment of the Religious of the Sacred Heart of Jesus (the
Madames of the Sacred Heart) in California, and in the building of
S5t. Patrick's Seminary, both of which events occurred inm Menlo Park
while he was pastor there. A year after his silver jubilee as a
Priest, Michael O'Riordan was named pastor of St. Joseph's, Berkeley,
to succeed Thomas Phillips.

The parish to which Michael Q'Riordan came was different from
the one that Thomas Phillips had come to ten years before. Tn that
time, the population of Berkeley had nearly tripled and was well
over ten thousand. Many of the piloneers, including Jawes McGee, had

died, and their farms were being broken up into residential and
commercial lots. Many new homes were being built, especially in
the central part of Berkeley around St. Joseph's. A year before,
the southwestern portion of the parish, lying between Russell and
Ward Streets, had been cut off to form part of the new parish of
St. Columba's, established to serve the growing communities of
Golden Gate and Lorin in South Berkeley and North Oakland. The old
church was becoming too small for the growing Catholic community of
Berkeley.

The Academy was growing, too. The Presentation novitiate was
moved to the San Francisco Motherhouse on Powell Street in 1901,
since the Sisters felt that a novitiate in a "local house" was
detrimental to the formation of the novices. In its place, the
Sisters opened a boarding school as part of the Academy. To house
the bearders, an extension was built onto the west end of the con-
vent building. The original convent had been built of twe floors
with elghteen-foot high ceilings. The new wing was able te include
three floors under this same roofline. This extension sexrved as a
boarding schocl into the 1950's when, Ffor a short time, the noviti-
ate was reestablished in Berkeley. When the novices left for the
last time, however, the boarding school was not recpened.

Father 0'Riordan, whose health was no longer robust, attempted
to meet the needs of the expanding community. He bought propercy
and made plans for the construction of a new and larger church. He
was not to remain in Berkeley to continue this work. By September
1905, his health had deteriorated to the point where he had to retire.
He served for years as chaplain of Providence Hospital in Oakland.
Later, feeling that his health was strong, he accepted the pastorate
of St. Andrew's Church in Qakland in 1917. The work was too great
for him and he died on February 23, 1918,



More historically significant chan the pastor, during O'Riordan’s
years in Berkeley, was his assistant, a fellow Limerick mam, but a
graduace of St. Patrick's, Thurles, rather than All Hallows, Rev.
John J. Cantwell. Cantwell had committed himself to the Archdiocese
of San Francisco hefore his ordination in 1899. Arriving in Cali-
fornia, he was sent to Berkeley to assist Father O0'Riocrdan. Although
his parish visitation on horseback and his occasional afternoons
drinking beer with Louis Raspiller, owner of the American Brewery
on San Pablo Avenue, are still remembered by old-time parishioners,
his years as assistant in Berkeley would not merit comment were it
not for two important facts: firstly, that John J. Cantwell was
instrumental in the founding of the Newman Club for the Catholics of
the University of California in Berkeley, and secondly, that John J.
Cantwell went on to become Secretary to Archbishop Riordan and, in
time, Archbishop of Los Angeles.

From its beginnings, St. Joseph's parish included within its
boundaries the University of California. One of the prominent
early professors, Eugene Hilgard, Dean of the School of Agriculture
from 1875 to 1904, was a devout Catholic who was not only a faith-
ful parishioner of St. Joseph's, but also very concerned for the
welfare of the growing number of Catholic students at Berkeley. In
the lace 1890's, Catholics at several colleges in the United States
had formed clubs named in honor of the recently deceased English
cardinal, John Henry Newman. Berkeley was one of them. In 1899,
Professor Hilgard and six students discussed the idea of forming a
club for Catholics at the University. On December 8, 1800, a formal
organization was established, assuming the name The Newman Club.
The ready services of the young assistant at the local parish were
received. Thus began Johm Cantwell's involvement in the Newman Club
Movement. In 1902, the Club received the approval of Archbishop
Riordan, who was very pleased not only with the work of the Newman
Club, but also with the work of Father Cantwell. In these early
years, the Club, with Cantwell's support and encouragement, met in
the Golden Sheaf Bakery building on Shattuck Avenue. The growth of
the Club and the removal of Father Cantwell from Berkeley in 1904
induced the Archbishop to establish the ministry to the Catholic
students of Berkaley on a more permanent and solid basis. In 1907,
the Paulist Fathers agreed to staff a permanent campus ministry in
Berkeley. Archbishop Riordan made the construction and endowment of
Newman Hall in Berkeley one of his most important projects. In
March 1910, the Newman Hall was dedicated by the happy Archbishop.

Meanwhile, John Cantwell had been transferred from St. Josaph's
and named Secretary to Archbishop Riordan. Berkeley was to be his
one and only parish assigonment. In 1914, he was made Vicar Gemeral
of the Archdiocese of San Francisco and on December 5, 1917 was
consecrated Bishop of Monterey-Los Angeles. In 1936, he became
Archbishop of Laos Angeles. He died on October 30, 1947.

The Irish priests, Thomas Phillips, Michael O'Riordan, and
John J. Cantwell, served well the growing Catholic community of the
University town. The assistant Cantwell went on to prominence in
the Church. The pastors Phillips and O'Riordan passed into near
oblivion, leaving Berkeley, in the opening years of the twentieth
century, upon the threshold of its greatest growth, and leaving
Saint Joseph's Parish prepared for its greatest development under
Dr. Francis Xavier Morrison, the fourth pastor of Saint Joseph's.

«+s» to be continued



THE HISTORY OF SAINT JOSEPH'S ... a continuing serdes of articles on
various facecs of parish history, by Fr. Harry Morrison.

PART VI' - The Pastorate of Rev. Francis Xavier Morrison, Fourth
Pastor, 1905-1920. (Part One of two parts; to be continued in the
October Newslecter.)

Late Saturday evening, September 10, 1905, a young priest of
thirty-six stepped off the Grove Street car at Addison Street and
walked down the streast to begin fifteen years as pastor of St. Joseph's
Church in Berkeley, Ten years later, im his typically formal style,
Dr. Morrison recalled the experience:

"It was past nine o'clock, for we had been detained in Oakland
to perform a marriage at which we had promised to assist. There
were no lights on Addison Streatr then, and few of the homes
between Grove and McGee Streets were built at that time, We walked
three blocks and thought we had mistaken the way. We continued on,
however, and came upon the house and church but the night was so
dark that ome could gee only a few feet in advance. We were received
and made welcome by Rev. Father Brennan, the acting rector, and on
Sunday morning we commenced our pasterate in the church." (From
St. Joseph's Monthly Record, September, 1915, page 9.)

For fifteen years, Dr. Morrisom served as pastor, erecting
buildings, becoming invoived in the public life of the growing city,
deepening the Catholic spirit of his parishioners and, in all
things, caring for the needs of his people. BHis foresight, spiritu-
ality, business acumen, breadth of vision, kindneas, common sense
and practical judgment were providential gifts to the Catholic
community of Berkeley at onme of the most critical junctures of its
history. For Berkeley was beginning to grow.

Oakland had crowded in on the south, the broad central area of
the city was beginning to fill in as suburbanites and commuters
moved to this side of the bay. Local businessmen, led by F. K.
Shattuck, began to develop a downtown along Shattuck Avenue, encour-
aging municipal improvements and urban transportation. At the same
time, Benjamin Ide Wheeler, as President of the University of Cali-
fornia, was developing the University into a front rank center of
learning and one of the largest colleges in America. The striking
gimilarities between Dr. Morrisenm and President Wheeler are not
entirely accidental. They both responded in an enlightened, enthusi-
astic manner to the new demands of the twentieth century and to the
emergence of the State of California and the city of Berkeley in the
mainstream of American 1life.

Francis Xavier Morrison was born in 1B69 in Charloctetown,
Prince Edward Island, in English-gpeaking Canada. After attending
the seminary in Canada and St. John's Seminary near Boston, Massa-
chusetts, Franeis Morrison earned a Doctorate of Divinity at Laval
Mniversity and was thereafter always referred to as "Doctor" Morrison.
Ordained March 13, 1897, Dr. Morrison came to California to servz
a5 assistant pastor at St. Peter's Church in San Francisco and St.
Mary's Church in Oakland.

A number of young priests and laity in the Bay Area at this time,
and all over the country for that matter, were intent on making
Catholicism more real in the lives of people and soctety. They spoke
out i{n defense of the Catholic Church and Catholic principles. The
WmOSt conspicuous of these priests was a young Irishman, Peter Yorke,
who, as editor of the San Francisco Monitor and later the Leader,



spoke out forcefully against anti-Catholic bigotry and the oppres-
sion of the working class. Francis Morrison was a member of this
eircle of priests attempting to defend the Church in the public
Eorum, to develop for Catholicism a respected place in society, and
to nurture im the Catholic people an active, intelligent appreci-
ation of their faith.

After serving for gix years as assistant pastor of St. Mary's
Church, the mother church of Oakland, Francis X. Morrison was named
fourth pastor of St. Joseph's Church in Berkeley. The Cacholic
community of Berkeley was growing rapidly. The rural character of the
town had given way to adefinitely urban enviromment. Vacant areas
were filling in, houses were being built all over the city. New
neighborhoods were being developed in the Claremont district to the
southeast and alsc in North Berkeley., The broad central plains of
Berkeley—once large farms—were beginning to sprout large frame
houses as the old farms became subdivided. To the center of Berkeley
came many Catholics, commuters from San Francisco and Oakland. As
interurban transportation improved, many people chose Berkeley, with
its beautiful views, mild climate and stately homes, as an ideal
place of residence. Between 1900 and 1910, the population of
Berkeley jumped from 13,214 to 40,434 to become the fourth largest
city in California.

The Catholics of Berkeley had outgrown the pioneer church and
schools of Saint Joseph's. Morrison felt the parish community was
ready for reorganization and active lay involvement. Most signifi-
cantly, he felt that it was time for the Catholics of Berkeley to
assume their rightful place in the pelitiecal, econmomic, social, and
educational life of the city.

Seven months after Dr. Morrison became pastor, and before he
was able to begin any new programs in the parish, earthquake and
fire destroyed most of the city of San Francisco, sending thousands
of refugees—many of them Catholics—streaming across the bay. Many
of these eventually returned to the City, but a large number
remained in Berkeley to make their new homes, swelling the schools
and the already overburdened church. To add to the congestion, the
two oldest and largest Presentation Convents, including the Mother-
house and Novitiate, were burned to the ground in the fire April 18-
19, 1906. For several weeks, the homeless sisters from the two
convents lived in extremely cramped quarters in the Berkeley convent.
Recognizing the plight of the Presentation Community whce had done
s0 much for Catholic education in San Franciscao, Archbishop Riardan
loaned them his own large house on Fulton Street in Sam Francisco
while he moved temporarily to the home of friends in San Mateo
County.

Dr. Morrison was aware of the momentous change occurring in
Berkeley and planned accordingly. Prior to his coming, plans had
been made to construct a larger church at St. Joseph's. Dr.
Morrison had, at one point, suggested that the site of the church
be relocated to another spot in Berkeley. There had been talk of
simply enlarging the old wooden church. Also, lots had been bought
on University Avenue for a new church. With the rapid growth of
Berkeley and the increase in the value of iand, Dr. Morrison felt
that the University Avenue lors should be scld and that more, and
cheaper, land be bought on Addison Street adjacent to the original
church site.

Dr. Morrison planned the new church on a grand scale, stating
that "Berkeley should boast of Catholic Church buildings better
than the best. Noble and dignified buildings are a sign of noble
and dignified people.” Frank T. Shea and Johm 0. Lofquist of San
Francisco were the architects, while the Berkeley firm of Ridder
and McCullough were the construction contractors. The cormerstone
vas lald on June 17, 1907 by Archbishop Riordan. The sermon on
this occasion was preached by Charles Ramm, who, prior to his
conversion and ordination to the priesthood, had been an engineer-
ing graduate of the University of California in 1884.



The design of the church was "of the modern Roman period." At
the time of its comstruction, it was referred to as the largest
church building in Alameda County. The distinguishing feature of
the building, apart from its massive size, is the pair of towers
gracing the face of the building. Rising high above the trees of
Berkeley, they can be seen from many points in the immediate Bay
drea. Im 1911, they were referred to as the highest church spires
in Berkeley. The building was completed in time for the first Mass
in the church Christmas morning 1907. WNot until April 26, 1908 was
the church dedicated. Father Thomas Phillips, former pastor, was
the celebrant of the Mass. Another former priest of the parish was
also in attendance, Johm J. Cantwell, at this time Secretary to
Archbishop Riordan who presided at the dedication. The cost of the
censtruction was $47,000. Within the next several years, the
furnishing of the interior of the church would cost another $18,000.
The most striking feature of the church interior is the set of lower
windows specially made for St. Joseph's by the Mayer Company of
Munich, Germany. The rich artistry, color and texture of these
windows has continued to inspire the Catholics of Berkeley. Soon
after the dedication, Dr. Morrison told his people, "The dedicacion
of our mew church does not mean that we have now nothing more to do.
It means that we have finished just so much.... As the Church is a
living institution, it must be ever active, ever at work. The
surest sign of a decaying institution is to see it cease to be
active, or ceasing to make progress.” As Dr. Morrison never tired

of saying, "Saint Joseph's Church is a reflection of the spirit
and position of the Catholics of Berkeley and is what it is due
to their vision and their genmerosity."

The new church was built on the site of the original rectory
built by Father Pierce Comerford. Severzl months before the lay-
ing of the cornerstone, the rectory was moved east on Addison
Street and enlarged to make room for the larger staff of priests
which the expanding parish would need. Again, in 1912, Dr.

Morrison expanded the rectory by adding on to the rear of the build-
ing. The growing parish also demanded new school facilities. The
parish had no soeial or activities hall or meeting rooms. The old
boys' school bullt by Father Comerford was inadequate.

As early as January 1909, Morrison began speaking publicly
of the need for a parish hall. By Jaouary 1912 he was ready to begin
work on the building to be erected directly behind the new church.
The old boys' school building was moved across St. Joseph's Street
{now Jefferson) in the middle of the let, A second story was built
as a meeting room known for years as The Blue Room. Between this
building and St. Joseph's Street, the new school and hall were built.
The year following the erection of the new St. Joseph's Boys' School,
the Sisters of the Presentation who had been using the original
church as their convent chapel felt acutely the need to expand. The
venerable old structure was torn down in 1913 to make room for a
gew wing built on to the origimal convent.

Soon after Morrison was appointed paster, the first of several
divisions were made in St. Joseph's Parish. In September 1907,
Saint Augustine's Parish was formed out of the southeastern cormer
of St. Joseph's and part of Sacred Heart parishes. The new parish
included the new Claremont district. Dr. Morrison had asked the
Archbishop that he be named pastor of the new parish, but his
request was not granted. The new parish included that portion of
Berkeley east of Shattuck and south of Parker Street. At the same
time, Archbishop Patrick Riordan was eager to make of the Newman
Club of Berkeley a permanent miniscry to the Catholic studentrs of
the University. He made this one of the chief projects of his
administration as Archbishop of San Francisce. First, he called che



Paulist Fathers to take charge of the project. The Paulists had
been in the West since 1894 when, at Riordan's request, they had
assumed charge of 0ld S$t. Mary's Church (the former cathedral) in
San Franciseco. Once the Paulists accepted charge of the Berkeley
foundation in the Summer of 1906, Riordan set out in earmest to
solicit liberal endowment gifts from the wealthy Catholics of the
Bay Area. Though the aging Archbishop struggled long and hard on
this project, he was only partially successful. Though a large and
imposing Newman Hall was erected and dedicated March 10, 1910, of
English Gothic architecture, the Archbishop was unable to establish

a sufficient endowment to support the ministry of Newman Hall. 1In
jater years, the financial problems of the University chaplaincy
would contribute to a certain friction between later archbishops,
the Paulists and the pastors of St. Joseph's Church. In the begin-
ning, however, Dr. Morrison was an enthusiastic supporter of Newman
Hall and a frequent guest lecturer and hemilist. Though Newman Hail
was not made a parish until 1967, it continued for sixty years as a
"parish within a parish,” ministering not only to the students of
the University, but also to many alummi and parishioners of St.
Joseph's.

Another division was made in the parish in December 1910 with
the establishment of St. Ambrose Parish. West and North Berkeley
were growing rapidly and were in need of a separate parish. A lot
had been bought years before at Eighth and Addison in West Berkeley,
but this location was considered too close to St. Joseph's and to
St. Columba's. A location farther to the north, at Gilman and
Stannage Streets, was chosen for the West Berkeley parish. That
first Christmas, Mass was celebrated at Finnish Hall at Tenth and
Bristol (now Hearst Street) in West Berkeley.

The Catholic Community had experienced profound matrerial growth
in the first five years of Dr. Morrison's pastorate. The influx
of large numbers of new residents, many of whom were Catholics,
necessitated the erection of two new parishes: St. Augustine'’s to
the southeast and St. Ambrose to the northwest. In addition, the
growth of the University and the new attention of church leaders to
students outside Catholic scheools brought about the establishment
of the Paulist chaplaincy at Newman Hall. Through all this growth
and division, St. Joseph's continued to grow and expand. A large
and imposing church waa erected. A new school for boys was buile,
and the rectory and, later, the convent, were expanded. These
developments brought St. Jeseph's and the Catholic community of
Berkeley out of their rural piloneer beginnings into the twentieth
century life of California's fourth largest city. Yet, the new
parochial institutions and buildinga themselves were only the out-
ward signs of the real development of the educational, social and
spiritual life of the Catholic community of Berkeley. That devel-
opment will be the subject for the continuation of this series next
month in the October Newsletter.

* * k & &k

THE HISTORY OF ST. JOSEPH'S ... a continuing series of articles on
various facets of parish history, by Fr. Harry Morrisom.

PART VII - The Pastorate of Rev. Francis X. Morrison, Fourth
Pastor 1905-1920 (Part Two).

A year after becoming paster of St. Joseph's in Berkeley, Dr.
Francis X. Morrison began publication of the St. Jogseph's Monthly
Record. In the first issue, October 1906, Dr. Morrison explained
his purposes in publishing the parish magazine. The chief reason
was to inform the people of the parish of the various parish
activities. As he said at the time, "Nothing is so important for
the well-being of a parish as that the people should have definire
knowledge of the work being done and to take a lively interest in
the same.” Although announcements of parish events were made each
Sunday at Mass, information could be misunderstood or some could




fail to hear the message. Morrison also chose not to rely on
apnouncements or the use of time set aside for the Sunday sermon.
The moanthly Record was free to the people of the parish, picked
up in the church on the first Sunday of each month, paid for by
the advertisements of local businesses, many of them owned by
parishioners. Dr. Morrison continued to write and publish the
Record throughout his pastorate after which it was continued by
Father Bremnan. It lasted in one form or another into the 1950's,
when it finally evolved intoc the school newspaper of St. Joseph's
Presentation High School, The Eecord. Inm the many years of its
existence, the St. Joseph's Monthly Record, especially during the
pastorate of Dr. Morrison, not only served to inform parishiomers
of parish activitias and keep them involved in the life of the
Church, but also, from our vantage point, continues to provide a
rare and amazingly thorough documentation of the life of a highly
active parish and the ministry of its dynamic pastor.

Through his years in Berkeley, Frameis X. Morrison used the
Record to stimulate parish 1ife, to foster a committed and
enlightened Catholic Spirit, to enhance a sense of community, to
address the needs of the citizens and larger community of Berkeley
and to draw the Cacholies of Berkeley together as a cohesive
spiritual and civic force. Dr. Morrison left behind an almost
complete set of the Monthly Record published during his years,
which allows us to gsee the fascinating inner life of a growing
parish in the early years of the 20th century, the involvement of
that parish community and its broad-minded pastor in the concerns
of the City of Berkeley around it. Last, but far from least, the
Record provides for us glimpses into the mind and soul, the wit
and humor of a man whose spiritual vision and love of his people
raised St. Joseph's Parish from being "the poorest ia the Arch-
diocese" to the "ideal parish of the West." (Monitor, June 3,
1911.)

Francis X. Morrison struck an imposing presence. He is remem-
bered today for his dignified and elegant bearing. When not in
his cassock and clerical cope, he could be seen walking the streets
of Berkeley in a black silk ctop hat, a perfectly cut black frock
coat, a walking stick and black patent leather shoes. The top hat
and shoes became his trademark. (A friend once told him to dis-
pense with rhe silk hat in working class West Berkeley or it was
likely to be lknocked off his head.) In later years, in honor of
his earmed doctorate, "Dr." Morrison wore an academic mortarboard
racher than the ecclesiastical biretta.

Dr. Morrison had the interescts of his people at heart as he
solicited advertisements for the Record. ‘The Record was free to
the people, yet it was the businessmen of Berkeley who paid for it.
Morrison expected the people to repay this courtresy by patron-
izing the advertisers. The parishiomers could be sure that only
reputable businesses which shared their interests would be found
in the pages of the Record. By the third issue, businessmen
began commentcing on the effectiveness of an ad in the Record.
Through this means, Morrison encouraged Catholics to do business
with fellow Catholics and with those friendly to the Catholic
community. That this worked is shown in the comments of the
business community and in the quality of the advertising over the
years.

In the first pages of the Record, Morrison noted the attrac-
tive setting and climate of Berkeley "daily attracting many new
residents to our city." The newcomers were welcome in the parish.
Morrison especially encouraged the older residents to socialize
with the newcomers and make them welcome. "Sociability is a good
Chriscian virtue, and sometimes it is not honored as much in prac-
tice as it should be. There should be no place in a healthy, normal
community for the social iceberg."



The first year or two of the Record were spent encouraging
parishioners to participate in the work of building the new church
(described in the September Newsletter) and in fostering membership
in parish organizations. As Dr. Morrison envisioned it, the whole
gspiritual and social life of the parish should center around the
parish sodalities. Each person in the parish—child or adult—was
expected to belong to one sodality or amother. Each sodality would
meet on a particular Sunday of the month. In addition, the members
would receive communion together once a month. Each sodality met
under the direction of either the pastor or the asaistant and the
presidency of a lay member. The children's sodalities also had
Presentation Sigsters as moderators. Young boys were expected to
Join the Boys' Sodality of the Sacred Heart. Older boys belonged
to the Young Men's Sodality of the Holy Name. Adult men were members
of the St. Joseph's Gentlemen's Sodality. The Junior Children of
Mary Sedality served young girls, while young ladies joined the
Children of Mary Sodality and adult women the Ladies' Sodality of
the Holy Family. In addition, the parish had a Sanctuary Society,
an Altar Society and, most remarkably, an Advisory Parochial Com-
mittee. Very similar to the parish council of decades later,
Morrison formed this committee of dedicated laymen to meet regu-
larly to discuss parish business and policy. By his own account,
Morrison consulred the Advisory Committee before every major deci-
sion of his pastorate. Two other organizations functioned in the
parish, but were of regional or national origin. The Catholic
Ladies' Aid Society had been founded at St. Mary's Church in Qakland
in 1887 as am organization of Catholic Women dedicated to helping the
poor, The Society grew rapidly. Within a year after the Oakland
founding, a bramch was established in Berkeley which dissolved by

1889. In 1902, the Berkeley Branch #9 was reestablished. Catholic
Ladies’' Aid Sociecy Branch #9 remains today as the oldest lay organ-
izartion in the parish.

The Knights of Columbus was the second group to be founded from
outside the parish. Organized in 1882 in New Haven, Comnecticut,
this national organization of Catholic men grew rapidiy. The East
Bay Knights—1like the Ladies' Afd—began at St. Mary's, the mother
church of Oakland. Among the Charter members of Council #784 at
its inception November 29, 1903, were Fr. John J. Cantwell, assis-
tant in Berkeley at the time, and Fr. Francis Morrison, then zssis-
tant at St. Mary's, Qakland. During the convention, the delegates
toured the University at Berkeley, attended Mass at the new St.
Joseph's Church and were entertained at breaskfast on the Presentation
Convent grounds. Dr. Morrison was extremely eager that Berkeley
should have its own counecil of the Knights. Numbers of Catholic
laymen ware entering the professions and starting businesses in
Berkeley. The Masors controlled the economic and political life
of the city. Dr. Morrison and others felt the Catholic businessmen
of Berkeley should organize, assert themselves and take their place
in the life of the city. In the Fall of 1910, Berkeley Council #1499
of the Knights of Columbus was organized. Dr. Morrisom, a Charter
member of both the Oakland and Berkeley Councils, considered the
establishment of the Knights "an epoch in the life of the Church im
this city." He went on to say, "The Knights of Columbus now consti-~
tute the strongest Catholic organization in this country. Hundreds
of thousands of men representing the best that there iz in Catholic
life, are already enrolled in this mighty Society. Its ideals and
aims are the noblest, and it appeals to the very best in our
Catholie citizenry."



The various parish organizations were calculated to keep the
Catholics of the parish active and involved in the 1life of che
Chruch. Yet, organizations alone are not enough. In August 1911,
Dr. Morrison stated, "Even in the best crganized parish and among
the most intelligent there may be here and there some parents who are
oot as attearive to their duty as they should be.... Many parents
think that because these young people are confirmed they are through
with instruction in Chrisctian doctrine. This is a mistake. We need
today, as seldom before, a well imstructed Catholiec laity." Dr.
Morrison's dedication to quality Catholic education was shown in his
constant exhortation of the people to have an intelligent and posi-
tive understanding of the Faith. He tried vo provide the best
facilities he could for the Catholic schools of the parish. He
supported the Newman apostolate at the University. It was oo
accident that toward the end of his pastorate, in 1917, St. Joseph's
Presentation High School joined a growing list of Catholic gorls’
academies accredited by the University of Califormia. Dr. Morrisen

rook great pride in this accomplishment. The year following the
accreditation he wrote, "We are much pleased though not at all
surprised to see that the graduates from our school here passed
all their examinacions at the University with credit to chemselves
and to the school. And we said we expected no less.”

Dr. Morrison's expectations were not always met, however. For
years, he used che pages of the Monthly Record to woice his opposi-
tion to the presence of dogs at Mass. An exampe: ''Why should any
sensible person bring his or her dog to Church? We give it up.
Dogs are not obliged to come to church on Sundays, yet some people
act as if this obligacion was more binding on the dogs than on
themselves. Please keep the dogs home. They are a general and
particular nuisance. The boys throw rocks at them, every man tries
to administer a kick and the priests—well, the less said the better."
Then, to vary the monotony of the dog nuisance, occasiomally there
comes along a cat. "Great heavens, to think of anyone coming along
to church with a cat bringing up the tail end of the procession.
Let us leavea all these good, dear pets at home, and we will give
better evidence of good semse, good judgment and respect for
religion."

Dogs and cats were not the only distraction during Mass, as the
pastor went on to say: "There are few wmore annoying things at church
during divine service than a crying baby. Crying bables are dear
lictle things and perfectly cute—but oot at church. One crying
baby will beat to a standstill a full choir at its best, or the
most silver-tongued oratoer that ever got into a pulpit." (November
1911.)

Morrison's care for liturgical solemnity extended beyond his
annoyance with dogs and other distractions. The beauty of St.
Joseph's Church was an example of his regard for the liturgy. He
went to great pains o procure the most beautiful windows and altars
he could for the church. Music has always been an important aspect
of the religious life of St. Joseph's. With Dr. Morrison's encour-
agement, several choirs were developed at St. Joseph's, contributing
to the various Sunday Masses. The liturgy and music at Christmas and
Easter were especially grand during Morrison's pastorate, involving
full orchestration of solemm Masses from the classical repertoire.
Musical participation was not confimed to the choir. Discussing the
liturgy, Morrison said, "The congregation will sing the hymms and it
1s earnestly asked that each person take part in the singing. Did
you ever stop to think how good it sounds to hear a vast congregarion
singing the hymns? It is inspiring., We like it. Everybody likes it.
Why shouldn't they like it? It is che united voice of a people
glving praise to God." (March 1914.)



The summit of the liturgy is the Mass and the culmination of
the Mass is Holy Communion. At cthe turn of the cencury frequent
communion was very rare, even for nuns. Pope Pius X, in his
reforms of the liturgy, fostered fraquent communion and the recep-
tion of First Communion at an early age. Dr. Morrison greeted these
reforms with enthusiasm, and throughout his pastorate encouraged his
people to frequent communien, especially at Easter. The result of
his incitement was seen, when on Easter Sunday 1914, following Holy
Week services that had been attended by "huge crowds," about ninereen
hundred people received Holy Communion at St. Joseph's Church.

In addition to his care for the liturgical and spiritual 1ife of
his parishioners, Dr. Morrison also had an active interest in civie
affairs in Berkeley. Of his own life in the political affairs of the
city, Morrison said: '"Beyond the common interest which every
citizen should take in the well-being of his city, we give very
little thought (to political matters). We have lived long enough to
have learned that politics and the church have little in common and
neither one nor the other gains much by bringing them too close
together. The churchman who tries to combine church work with
politics generally succeeds in becoming a poor politician and am
indifferent churchman."” Yet, such sentiments did not prevent him
from expressing, sometimes rather forcefully, his opinions on the
issues of the day. His basic political principle was thar "the incer-
ests of the people should be the first concern."” (May 1919.) Foer him
the people were the citizens of Berkeley, and he viewed their needs
from the perspective of Berkeley's Catholica and especially from
that of the wage earner and the poor. One of Morrisomn's first
ventures into the public forum was his October 1907 suggestion of
a "Central Berkeley Improvement Club," to deal with the problems of
lack of transportation and the effects of unscrupulous "real estate
and building sharks." Dr. Morrison ventured his opinion: "Central
Berkeley has a great era of development before it, but it should be
developed along the best and most useful lines., 1In the first place,
we need better street car service. University Avenue does not afford
the service that the traffic on that thoroughfare demands. The
connections made by that line with the other car lines In the city
are simply ridiculous. The matter should be pressed upon the atten-
tion of the traction company and pressed so hard that the company
can think of nothing else until it applies a remedy.” Morrison
played the role of advocate well, yet never used ecclesiastical
authority to sway his people. His arguments were always well
reasoned and he was at pains to have the final decision of the voter
up to the comsclence and good judgment of the individual citizem.

Two civic issues received Morrison's repeated attention during
his pastorare: prohibition and bonding initiarives, The location
of the University and its impressionable students within Berkeley,

had from the beginning of its history, encouraged an element in
Berkelay tc oppose the manufaccure, sale and use of liquor within
the city limits. West Berkeley was a separate community, largely
Catholic and not in sympathy with the tee-totalling sentiments of
the citizenry to the east. Although the controversy between East
and West Berkeley, knowmn as the ‘'anti-saloon war' had raged on for
decades before Dr. Morrison came to town, he joined the opposition
to the prohibitionists. "Now we yield to uo man or woman,"” he
dectared, "in the city of Berkeley or elsewhere in our love for
temperance and decent living." (February 1915.) However: "We do
hate hypoerisy. We do not sees the consistency of all the would-be
reformers in the town getting their names in the papers and other-
wise seeking cheap advertisement by haling some poor widow of West
Berkeley into court for having a half-empty beer bottle in her
posseasion, while the streets around the homes of the reformers are
worn by the delivery wagons from the liquor dealers of Oailcland.”
(December 1907.) The controversy continued until the eighteenth
amendment made prohibition the law of the land in 1919.



The levying of municipal bonds was amother 1ssue which
received frequent comment from the pastor of St. Joseph's. He felt
that politicians would rather float a bond for which the future
citizens of Berkeley would be liable than raise taxation to pay
for needed civic improvements. Such taxation, he felt, would
offend the voters who would "turn out" the politicians who raised
the taxes. Morrison was not opposed to needed civic improvements
such as parks, roads and schools, but he was opposed to a fiscally
irresponsible funding pattern which would saddle future generations
of the young and growing city with a burdensome debt. On at least
one occasion, Morrison felt the outcome of a municipal bond election
had vindicated his public stand. Tn Octeber 1914 he wrote:
"Evidently a great wmajority of the people of Berkeley thought along
the same lines as ourselves in the matter of the recent election
for bonds. The Record was the only publication in Berkeley that
advised against the adoption of the entire boud issue.... Most of
the people of the city thought as we did, and so the macter has been
setcled for the time being to our satisfaction."

Dr. Morrison was a staunch promoter of Berkeley. He used the
pages of the Record as an advertising medium for Berkeley businesses
and encouraged support for gane improvement and legislation. His
support of Berkeley business was especially noticeable. For a
variety of reasons, many Berkeley consumers did their shopping in
Oakland or San Francisco. Morrison encouraged the people of Berkeley
to patronize Berkeley businesses. "It is always for the best inter-
est of any community to keep all the money possible in the channels
of trade in that community. We are not talking herea of big finanmcial
interests and deals. We are talking of the everyday matters of buying

and selling in the shops and stores of one's own city.... And so
we do counsel people to trade at home ... we would like to see all
the elements of our city work together., We would like to see the
business pecple do all in their power to meer the very lowest
prices in Oakland and San Francisco. And we would like to see the
citizens of Berkeley stand loyally by the businessmen of the city.
In that way, as we said, the best interests of all would be sub-
served and a staunch, healthy tone of cooperation would be noticed
everywhere."” (October 1915.)

Toward the end of his pastorate at St. Joseph's, Dr. Morrison's
reflections turnmed to the "titanic struggle'" of World War I. The
"Guns of August" 1914 impelled the pastor to state: "The events now
taking place in Europe are so astounding that they are simply beyond
our grasp. In fact, we stand appalled at the spectacle.” As the
months of carnmage, destruction and starvation in Europe wore on,
Morrison became more somber and yet more hopeful for the future.

It was his faith in God and in "the natural order of things" which
allowed him to see beyond the horrible war. "If we acknowledge
cthat providence of God and act with reverence toward it as nations
and as individuals, we may hope to be happy. If we ignore it then
we cannot expect to be more fortunate than those who have gone
before us, and as the order that was built up without God is now
being drowned out in blood, so will the one that comes after, 1if it
be built on no better foundacion." (August 1917.) For all his
revulsion at the "terrible emgines of death and ruin," Morrisom was
convinced that we, untouched by war, could not isolate ourselves from
the sufferings of others; ™"We are part of the great family of the
world. We share its fate and its fortunes whatever they may be."
"From the cowparative quiet and peace of our land we cannot help
but turn with pity and honor to the war-scourged people in the old
lands of Europe.... The dreadful war is a fact. The suffering of
the people is a fact, and we owe it to ourselves as well as to
society to keep these facts before our minds and do what we can to
grapple with them."



When the draft came to Berkeley, Morrison felt bound by his
principles to say to his people: "Among this vast army of young
men are not a few from this city and this parish.... And so, while
we do regret to part with so many of the young men whom we have
knovm and loved so well, yet all these regrets are silenced in the
presence of the more sacred call of patriotism and duty."”

Peace eventually came, yet Dr. Morrisom was not able te enjoy
it for very long before he was suddenly, at Christmas 1920, trans-
ferred from St. Joseph's to become pastor of St. Francis de Sales
Church in Qakland, the present Cathedral. Here he replaced
Patrick J. Keane, who had just been consecrated fourth bishop of

gsacramento. Although the change was considered a definite promo-
tion for the Berkeley pastor, Dr. Morrison left with a heavy heart.
In his last contribution to the Record, he declined to reveal his
personal feelings: "What this change means to us personally camn

be kpown to ourselves alome.™ But he went on to speak of his "noble
people”: '"What devotiom on the part of this truly loyal and devoted
people! We often ask ourselves if there were really any other people
1ike them in the world. And there are, of course, good and devoted
people everywhere, but because we were so close to those people and
worked so intimately with them for so many years and received from
them so much unmerited devotion ... we could not help believing that
nowhere else could one find people like these.... In going away,
therefore, from all whom we have known and appreciatad here we are
extremely lonescme and we beg the prayers of all on our future work
as we shall not fail to pray for those whom we leave behind."
(January 1921.)

br., Morrison's pastorate at St. Francis de Sales was productive
but short. He threw himself into the work of his new parish with
the same devotion he showed in Berkeley. His main accomplishment
there was the erection of the modern brick school building which
stood until 1976. Even before the erection of the school in 1923,
Dr. Morrison had contracted cancer. As the illness worsened, he
directed the affairs of his parish from his sickbed.

At his death, Monsignor Edward Dempsey, his successor as pastor
of St. Francis de Salas, said, "Even yesterday, in his broken
condirion, he insisted on tending to some parish affairs. Over-
exertion, T believe, was one of the causes of his death."” He died
Thursday, September 18, 1924. He was buried the following Monday at
5t. Mary's Cemetery, Oakland. According to the San Framcisco
Monitor, "Dr. Morrison's funeral was one of the most impressive
services ever witnessed in the city with which he had been so closely
identified during many years of his life as a priesc.”

Two hundred priests and thousands of laity attended the funeral,
a quite remarkable gesture of respect for this priest, and "a real
testimonial to their appreciation of the worth of the man, his
gentility, unfailing courtesy, and kindly sympathy in all his rela-
tions with priests and people.” (Archives of the Diccese of Oakland.)
The Berkeley Knights of Columbus wrote, "His death is a distinct loss
to the city in which he lived and worked, and is keenly felt by all,
irrespective of their creed or persuasion.... Who can estimate the
amount of good dome by him as a priest of God? Nothing was too hard
for him when the honor and glory of God was the means to attain.
Those of us who knelt at his feet In the tribunal of penance will
never forget his kindly and Christliike consideration, and from the
innermost recesses of our hearts will coansider it anm honor, yes, even
a privilege to say 'Requiem Aeternmam Dona eis Requiem.'" (Berkeley
Council 1499, Knights of Columbus, Bulletin, XXI, October 1924, 2-3.)



THE HISTORY OF SAINT JOSEPH'S ...
PART VIII - The Pastorate of Rev. Thomas J. Bremnan, Fifth Pastor,
1921-1951 (Part Onme}, by Fr. Harry Morrisom.

When Father Thomas Joseph Bremnan arrived in Berkeley in
January 1921 to succeed Dr. Francis X. Morrison as pastor of St.
Joseph's, he was not a newcomer to the parish. From 1904 to 1911
he had been assistant pastor in Berkeley under Father Michael
0'Riordan and Dr. Morrison.

Thomas Brennan was born December 29, 1873 in County Tipperary,
Ireland, and was ordained June 14, 1900 from St. Patrick's College,
Thurles. 1In the fifty years before World War II, this seminary
ordained over fifty-seven priests for the Archdiocese of San Fran-
cisco, among them William J. Cantwell of the class of 1901 and
John J. Cantwell of the c¢lass of 1899, whom Thomas Brennan succeeded
as agsistant in Berkeley when Cantwell was named Secretary to the
Archbishop of San Francisco in 1904.

Arriving in the United States, young Father Brennan was sent to
the Catholic University of America in Washington, D.C. to obtain a
postgraduace degree, the Licentiate in Sacred Theclogy. Coming te
California in 1902 with his "S.T.L.," he was appointed to St. Mary's
Church in Stockton, then one of the most important parishes of the
Archdiocese, before being sent in 1904 to Berkeley as assistant to
Fr. 0'Riordan at St. Joseph's. Parishioners still remember young Fr.
Brennan from those early years, especially his custom of walking from
home to home within the parish visiting the parishionmers. '"He never
stayed more than a few minutes,"” but those visits have been treasured
down through the decades by grateful Berkeleyans. Father Brennan's
tenure in Berkeley coincided with the greatest growth of the city and

the parish. He witnessed the rapid development of Shattuck Avenue
as the main business district of the city, the San Francisco earth-
quake and fire of 1906, the building of the present church of St.
Joseph, and the formarion of two new parishes—St. Augustine's and
St. Ambrose—from St. Joseph's.

After seven years in Berkeley, it was time for a change. Dr.
Morrison regretted Bremnan's leaving and wrote the Archbishop request-
ing that he be cognizant of 'the peculiar needs of Berkeley," thus
caking special care in Brennan's replacement. Thomas Brennan was
sent Lo agsist at Star of the Sea Church and St. Mary's Cathedral in
San Francisco before being named pastor of Our Lady of Mercy Church
in Merced., After building a new church there, he was named head of
St. Raphael's Parish in San Rafael in 1918. After a disastrous fire,
he was again called upon to build a new church, erecting the present
church of St. Raphael which dominates the skyline of the Marin County
Seat.

When Archbishop Edward Hanna locked about at the end of 1920 for
a suitable replacement for Dr. Morrison in Berkeley, his attention
fell upon Thomas Brennan, a third of whose priestly ministry had
already been spent at St. Joseph's. With his appointment January 1,
1921, as fifth pastor of St. Joseph's, Bremnan was to minister in
Berkeley the remaining thircy-five years of his life. Altogether,
over half of this venerable priest's life was spent serving the pecple
of 5t. Joseph's Church.



The growth of the city of Berkeley and the parish of Saint Joseph's
had hardly abated in the ten years of Father Bremnan's absence. The
population of the city and parish was growing and changing. The farm-
lands of central Berkeley upon which the convent, church, and schools
of St. Joseph's had been built were rapidly giving way to the
encroaching city. The original McGee family gift of land had extended
from Addison Street to Strawberry Creek. Once Allston Way was cut
through and Strawberry Creek was culvertad, the parish saw the
desirability of acquiring the plot of land between Strawberry Creek
and Allston Way, Jefferson and Californja Streets (the site of the
present convent). The land was one of a number of vegetable farms in
Central Berkeley owned by Chinese. In August 1922, Father Breonan
bought the small farm from Alice Tem Hay and Charles S. Wong. Three
years later, Father Brennan bought a large lot on the northeast corner
of Jefferson Street and Allston Way, which has ever since served as
a playground for St. Joseph's School.

Property was to remaln a concern of Father Brennan's pastorate
and the pastorate of his successor. The roots of the complicated
issue extend back to the summer of 1877 when the Sisters of the Presen-
tation first looked to Berkeley. James McGee's gift of 2.7 acres

of land was given to Mother Mary Teresa Comerford with title held in
her name. Immediately Archbishop Alemany wrote to Mother Comeriord
to hand over the deed to him. The Archbishop's action was based
upon the decision of the bishops of the Second Plenary Council of
Baltimore: "No church shall be dedicated until the deed has been
given to the bishop" and "bishops . . . are obliged to assume the
fullest administration of ecclesiastical property."” Alemany inter-
preted this decree to mwean that all deeds to church relared property
were to be gigned over to the bishop——even property given specificalily
to religious orders. Mocher Teresa resisted the Archbishop's argu-
ment on grounds that religious orders had a right to own property and,
more peintedly, that Mr. McGee had no intention of giving the land to
the Archbishop and would be very annoyed should the deed wind up in
the hands of anyone save Mocher Teresa herself. Alemany was insis-
tent and eventually Mocher Teresa gave in and agreed to transfer
privately, accepting in return an affidavit stacing that the land

"is intended for the Sisrers of the Presentation Order ... amd that
it shall be ever used by sald community of Sisters, and by no other,
for the education of young girls according to their Rule.” The
McGees, the sisters, and the people of Berkeley continued to live as
though the land belonged to the Presentation community even though
the transfer of the deed had been made public following Mother
Teresa's death in 1881.

As the years passed, more additions were pade to the original
property, taxes were paid, builldings were erected, as the "complex-
ity” of the land ownership became less understood by those ocutside
the Presentation Qrder. Later priests assumed that the Berkeley
property, of which the Archbishep held the deed, belonged to "the
Church" to be administered according to the needs of the parish and
the Catholic community of Berkaley. This ambiguity of property
ownership posed a problem for Father Brennan.

By the end of Dr. Morrison's pastorate it was becoming increas-
ingly clear that larger and more modern school facilities were
needed. At the time of Father Bremnan's arrival in 1921, efforts of
the Presentation community and the staff of the parish were so inter-
mingled that most people failed to see them as two separate units.
St. Joseph's parish and the Presentation Sisters were "the Church"
in central Berkeley. The schools, founded and staffed by the Sisters,
somewhere along the line ceased to be thought of as "the Sisters’
schools” and came to be "parish schools.” In most minds, this shift
never involved change of ownership. 1In 1922 Father Brennan, as pastor
of the parish, made plans to modernize and substantially enlarge che
girls' school next to the convent. He made plans to use the land on
the west side of Jefferson Street for the new building., The Sisters
felt that Presentation community land was being lost in the erection
of che "parish" school building. For the first time in the history



of St. Joseph's parish the question of land owmership and use had
arisen as a serious problem. After some negotiations, it was
decided that a sgsection of the land south of Strawberry Creek,
bought by the parish, should become the property of the Siscers.
in exchange, all of cthe land upon which Presentation High School
and most of St. Joseph's Presentation Convent now stand would be
considered the property of the parish. Seven years later this
arrangement was made official whem Archbishop Hanna—after f£ifty-
two years—returned the deed of the Berkeley property to the
Sisters. The high school building and land extending to Allstom
Way remained the property of the archdiocese-parish. The "question
of property” was finally settled in the 1960's when Bishop Floyd
Begin gave all diocesan-parish land—and the high school—to the
Presentation Sisters.

With the property question out of the way, Father Brennan
proceeded to erect the new school building in 1923. The school
built by Father Phillips {in 1892, still structurally sound, was
incorporated into the new building as the north wing. The large
modern building housed the elementary grades of the girls' school
on the first floor and the high school grades on the second floor.
The completed building was dedicated by Archbishop Hanna February 24,
1924 and continues today to serve the education of young women as
Presentation High School.

The continued growth of the Catholic population of Berkeley in
the first years of Father Bremman's pastorate also brought about the
formation of a new parish to meet the needs of the new residential
neighborhoods of North Berkeley. The innovative development of
land and che construction of beautiful, yet functional, houses by
the Mason-McDuffie Company and others helped maintain Berkeley's
reputation as a desirable suburban residential area and attracted
many new homeowmers to the city—many of whom were increasingly
affluent Catholies.

North Berkeley had long been the home of such Berkeley pioneers
as the 0'Tooles, Sullivans, Currans, and Leschinskys. Two of these
families were especially significant, the Byrnes and the Murphys.
Napoleon Bonaparte Byrne had settled in North Berkeley in 18538,
acquiring 827 acres of land f£rom near Grove Street east over the hills
into Wild Cat Canyon and beyond. Much of what is now Tilden Park he
sald to the Currans and the Sullivans. Byrne lost his Berkeley
property through the failure of his farming investment in the Sacra-
mento delta but he returned to Berkeley to serve for a time as city
postmaster. Of his children we should mention Maude Byrme, who was
prominent for years in the Catholic Ladies Aid Society and other
organizations of St. Joseph's parish and remained a pillar of the
church throughout Father Brennan's pastorate. She served as a living
link with the earliest days of St. Joseph's parish and Berkelsay.

Another North Berkeley Catholic family was the Murphy family.
Michael and Delia Murphy farmed a large portion of the area and
raised a large family——at least nine of their childrem were baptized
at St. Joseph's. The story is told that someone once asked the very
political and very prolific Michael Murphy why he continued to pro-
duce so many sons. He is said to have replied that he was decermined
to guarantee the future of the Democratic Party in very Republican
Berkeley. Murphy's son Timothy and his grandson of the same name
ran the well-imown Capitol Market—known as "Mr. Murphy's Market'—
at Shattuck and Vine. The Murphys and a number of other North
Berkeley parishioners of St. Joseph's were influential in the found-
ing of the new parish.



As North Berkeley grew, Archbishop Hanna establighed the parish
of St. Mary Magdalen in 1923, The new parish was placed under the
care of the Dominican Order. The original parish included all of
Berkeley east of Peralta, Tulare, and Monterey, north of Rose and
Bayview. St. Joseph's retained the whola central section of the
city from the bay to the hills, including the University of Cali-
fornia and the Newman Chapel. Unfortumately, much of what remained
to St. Joseph's north of the campus burned in the disastrous
Berkeley fire of September 18, 1923, the year the Dominican parish
was formed. At first, the Catholics of North Berkeley met for Mass
in the homes of such former St. Joseph's parishioners as Walter
Martipnez., Later, Mass was said in the auditorium of the Thousand
Oaks School until the church was built at Milvia and Berrymsn. The
old home of Michael and Delia Murphy became the first convent of the
Dominican Sisters at St. Mary Magdalen's.

Though reduced in area by the formation of the new parish, St.
Joseph's continued to grow and develop. In the last twenty years
of Father Bremnan's pastorate—years which included World War II
with its dramatic alteration of Berkeley's life—St. Joseph's would
reach its peak as the finest parish of the East Bay.

.+ CONTINUED NEXT MONTH

THE BISTORY OF SAINT JOSEPH'S ...
PART IX - The Pastorate of Rev. Thomas J. Bremnan, Fifth Pastor,
1921-1951 (Part Two), by Fr. Harry Morrison.

The long pastorate of Thomas Brennan could be considered che
Golden Age of St. Joseph's Parish on account of the vitality of
the parish and its organizations and the strength of its schools.
Father Bremnan oversaw the continuazlly expanding community and
endeared himself to generations of Berkeleyans and Catholics.

By the time of the celebration of the Golden Jubilee of S5t.
Joseph's Parish in 1929, Father Bremnan had developed a highly
organized community capable of integrating the diverse Catholic
peoples of Berkeley into active Catholie life and into the eivic
life of Berkeley. Many organizations such as the Knights of
Columbus, the Catholic Ladies Ald Society and the Holy Family
Sodality carried over from the pastorate of Dr. Morrison and
remained strong. In addition, cther Catholic organizations had
been formed—chapters of the Young Ladies Institute, the Young
Men's Institute, the Catholic Daughters of America, Women's
Catholic Order of Feresters, and the St. Joseph's Altar Society.
Serving various purposes, spiritual and temporal, these thriving
organizations developed a community spirit and sense of mission
of large numbers of Berkeley Catholics. Two other organizations
held a unique role in the history of St. Joseph's: The Mother's
Club and the Xaverian Club. The Mother's Club, founded by the
wmothers of St. Joseph's School children was quite likely the first
Cacholic School parent group in the country. This vibrant and
hard-working organization, which equipped the cafeteria, main-
tained a lunch program for the schools, and "manned” innumerable
parish culinary successes, was featured in the September News-
letter. The Mother's Club evolved into today's St. Joseph's
Parent-Teacher Group, which continues tc make Catholic education
a viable option in Berkeley.



The Xaverian Club began early in Fr. Bremnan's pastorate as a
social club for young men and womern aged 17 years and over, which
sponsored outings, dances, dinners and other forms of entertain-
ment, among which were the stage productions of the Presentation
Players made up largely of Xaverian Club members. Although the
club was named for Dr. Francis Xavier Morrison, the former pastor,
it came to be nicknamed the "Father Brennan Matrimomial Soclety"
because of the permanent relationships it facilitated. The club
made a real effort to integrate not only graduates of the parish
schools, but also other young people and newcomers into the soecial
and religious life of the parish community.

Perhaps the most active organization in the parish during the
administration of Fr. Brennan was the Holy Name Society. Formed
as a men's organizacion to foster respect for the name of Our Lord,
to encourage the regular practice of faith and reception of commu-
nion and "to unite the members of the congregation in close harmony
in order that we might work together in upholding the dignity of
our church and its branches including the parochial schools," the
Holy Name Society has left us, fortunately, a scrapbook high-
lighting its activities during the years 1940 to 1944. By 1944,
the following men remained of the founders of the Society in 1924:
L. B. Allen, Herbert Brennan, W. W. Brown, E. J. Curramn, J. E.
Curran, Joe Dougherty, Frank Duffy, Jobhn Frick, W. P. Granc,
Edward L. Heafey, Frank Javete, Nestor Kemney, Guy Lilly, Michael
5. McKenna, William Meinheit, Frank Morris, L. J. Mullen, M. Prende-
ville, Frank Pult and Louis Rapp.

Through the years cof the presidencies of Ed Heafey, Barney
Donchue, George Warren, Lee Hearnmey, and Ralph Dolin, the Society
held an active membership of 288, of whom 63 were in military
service. In addition to monthly Mass, at which members were encour-
aged to receive Holy Communion im a body, followed by breakfast, the
Society sponsored two Boy Scout troops, monthly parish dances,
dinners, men's retreats, annual Father's and Son's Day—highlighted
by Mass, Commnion and breakfast—and the amnuzal parish picnic which
served as the main source of income for the Society.

In the fall of 1940, the Holy Name Society formed the St.
Joseph's Athletic Club and began sponsoring a series of boxing
matches. Paul DeSchmidt, Barney Donohue, Larry Olsom, Frank Javete,
William Lindblad and others built a boxing ring and gymmasium in the
basement of St. Joseph's School. Here the Athletic Club held the
first boxing bouts Friday night, October 18, 1940, with contestants
brought from parishes on both sides of the bey. That night, nine
bouts were followed by the main event: Johnnie Jurs vs. Bobby Gutsch,
both at 135 lbs. The successful event was repeated in February and
October of the following year. The proceeds of $497.25 from the bout
of February 20, 1942, was rounded off to $500.00 by the Holy Name
Society, and sent to the 217th Coast Artillery A.A. Regiment for
their Mess and Welfare Fund. The Holy Name Society of 5t. Joseph's
Parish contributed more than money to the war effort during the years
of World War II. Sixty-three members of the Society were serving in
the military by 1944, The experience profoundly touched the lives
of those in the front line. OCn Angust 5, 1944, Larry Olson wrote to
fallow Holy Namer Barney Donchue from France expressing his emthusi-
asm for the Sea Scour movement sponsored by the Holy Name Soclety,
adding, "Let's hope, of course, they don't have to use their experi-
ences to fight another war.” Of his own experience in France, he
wrote: "It took a little time to widen the beachhead, but the
results are beginmning to show now.... The rows on rows of crosses
are evidence of whar price was paid, however.”



The ultimate cost of the war to the Holy Name Society and to
st. Joseph's Parish—not to mention to his family—is represeanted
in the story of Lt. Norbert 5. McKenna. Son of Mr. and Mrs. Michael
McKenna, brother of Angela, Mary, James, Adrian and Clement
McKenna—the last two were priests—MNorbert went from St. Joseph's
School and St. Ignatius High School to the University of Califormia
to obtain a degree in mining engineering. Having begun work on his
doctorate in the field, he went to the Philippines in 1940. Commis-
sioned in the Army Engineers, he was involved in the unsuccessful
defense of Manila against Japanese invasion in 1942. On March 6,
1942, Lt. McKenna wrote his lasc lecter to his family—a letter they
did oot receive for over five months. A month and a day after the
letter was written, April 7, 1942, Norbert McKenna was killed by an
enemy bullet while attempting to destroy the bridges out of Manila
and other military inscallations. Two days later the American
foreces in the Philippines surrendered to the Japanese. The
‘McKennas lived on with the hope that Norbert was alive. Three
years after Lt. McKenna wrote his last letter, the truth came out.
A solemn High Mass of Bequiem was celebrated in a filled St.
Joseph's Church March 12, 1945, by his brother Father Adrian
McKenna. MNorb's other prilesc brother, Captain Clement McKenna,
was serving in India at the time. The McKennas were not alone;
other Berkeley families had other stories to tell.

Through the early 40's, St., Joseph's parishioners worked in
various ways to meet the new demands made by the war. Victoria
Castro Bremnan was in the forefront. Her long involvement in
community work and the Red Cross served her in good stead. With the
help and support of the varicus organizations of the parish, Mrs.
Brennan staffed the Catholic Service Men's Center on Grove Street,
which served over one hundred local military persomnnel a day. In
addition, she organized a small but highly productive St. Joseph's
Red Cross unit, which met several days a week throughout the war
to make by hand objects needed to aid those affected by the war.

In addition to Mrs. Brennan, there were Mary Andersom, Mrs. Strelickil,
Isabelle Christophe, Georgia Dougherty, Agnes Andereggen, Sarah
Jensen, and Louise Hurlimann—-the only living member of the St.
Joseph's Red Cross "Grandmother's Club."

The disruption of the war years highlighted the profound change
occurring in Berkeley during the 1940's, a period of growth and
development which paralleled the opening decade of the century. The
expansion of defemse-related and other industries all around the bay
brought many new residents to Berkeley. What few open spaces there
were in the parish were filled in with apartments and rapidly built
housing units to meet the increased housing demands. The evelution
of the community, which had always been a reality, was now evident
to everyone. Although Italians had been present in Berkeiey from

the earliest days, they had become by the 1930's the largest echnic
group in St. Joseph's Parish. West Berkeley, north of University
Avenue, came to be kmown as "Little Italy." Though Blacks,
Spanish-speaking, and Filipinos had been present in Berkeley and

st. Joseph's before the war, they became an inecreasingly large part

of the popularion. Many of Berkeley's Blacks, such as the Broussards,
the Arcenmeauxs, and the Stevenses, were devout Catholies from
Louisiana. Not all Black Catholics felt warmly welcomed in 5t.
Joseph's parish organizations and schools during these early years.



The evolution of St. Joseph's was evident as much in the
deaths of longstanding wembers as in the arrival of mew parishiomers.
In November 1935, Johanna Mealley, who had served as housekeeper for
thirty years, was buried from St. Joseph's. In the following few
years Tilly Curctis Levy, James Curtis Jr., Catherine and Mary Ann
McGee and Edward Heafey—all members of ploneer families—died and
were buried from St. Joseph'’s. Another significant funeral was that
of Mary McDonald McDonald, whose hundredth and hundred and first
birthdays were parish events. Among her grandsons were Berkeley
Fire Chief Geotrge Sydney Rose, Father Andrew Abrott, and Father
Francis Scanlon. Her more than three hundred descendants include
families whose names are well known to generatioms of Berkeleyans:
Rose, Szopleray, Mahoney, Carmey, Dieden, Moore, Lindblad, Prende-
ville, Folliard, Countryman, Johason, McKinnon, Abrott, Scanlen, and
Brady—all McDonalds.

Perhaps oo liturgical event so symbolized the passage of time
in the life of St. Joseph's as the celebration of Father Brenman's
twenty-fifth anniversary as pastor, January 15, 1946. At the
parish receprcion organized by George Warren and MC-ed by Frank
Cornish, Father Brenman was given a new car. As author of pamphlets,
articles and books, active force in the Berkeley Red Cross, and
member of the Mayor's Charity Commission, Breonan had an influence
far beyond 5t. Joseph's Church. Yet it was his devotion to the
people of the parish which was celebrated that day. Five years
later, Father Brennan reluctantly resigned his pastorate of the
parish so much of whose strength and greatness was owed to this man.
He continued to live at St. Joseph's until his deach July 24, 1956.
Thomas Brennan had given over half of his 83 years to St. Joseph's.
Almost half of this parish's one hundred years were graced by his
presence, his humor, his forgetfulness, his winistry, his prayers,
his benedictiom.

AN APOLOGY — RETRACTION ... In the second part of Father Morrison's
historical account of Father Bremnan's pastorate published in the
January Newsletter, he referred to Mary McDonald McDonald as the
venerable parishioner whose one hundred firsc birthday was a grand
event in St. Joseph's parish and in Berkeley. Although Mary
McDonald MeDonald, her husband Domald McDonald, her nine daughters,
and her innumerable descendants are deserving of all the “coverage"
we gave them and more, we, alas, wrote about the wrong Mrs. McDonald.
The mistake was an easy one, of course, since St. Joseph's was
blessed with a number of '"Mrs. McDonalds"—Mrs. Donald McDomald,
Mrs. Bugh MecDonald, and Mrs. Michael McDonald, among others. It is
this last, Mrs., Michael McDonald, who 1s the lady in question, not
Mrs. Donald McDonald. It was Mary Agnes McNeil McDonald, borm in
1849, wife of Michael Mcbonald, and mother of Marguerite McDonald
Piercy, still living in the parish, who became Berkeley's famous
centenarian. Father Morrison regrets the error, but takes some
satisfaction in sharing with our readership the stories of both Mrs.
McDonalds.

THE HISTORY OF ST. JOSEPE'S ...
PART X - The Pastorace of Patrick J. Galvan, Sixth Pastor, 1951-
1967 (Part One), by Fr. Harry Morrisonm.

The years following World War II were years of momentous change
in Berkeley and within the Catholie Church. The brunt of this
change occurred during the pastorate of Monsignor Patrick J. Galvan
vhen both cthe City of Berkeley and the Parish of St. Joseph reached
their maximum expansion. The years of World War II had brought many
thousands of new residents to the Berkeley area. Cities to the norch
such as El Cerrito and Richmond began to boom. Only a slight drop
in population occurred after the war boom, as many war-related
industries cooverted to peacetime production. Hence, many of
Berkeley's new residents chose to stay and make their homes here.



The parish community of St. Joseph's had litcle trouble absorb-
inrg the many new parishioners during these years. If any difficulty
existed, no record has come down to us. It was apparent, however,
that the Church and schools were in need of major removation to cope
with the needs of the future. Over the years, Father Thomas Brennan
had avoided any major averhaul of existing buildings. Instead,
Father Brennan had accumulated a very healthy reserve on deposit in
the Archdiocesan Chancery Office. As of December 1, 1947, this
account totaled $90,500.00. The following Spring, the Archbishop
responded to complaints that the church and schools were badly in
need of repair. The building committee of the archdiocese recom-
mended that Fr. Brennan break loose with some funds and clean up the
plant. In his report of December 1, 1949, the pastor described what
he had done: repaired plumbing, new kneeling pads inm the church,
retiling the sanctuary, renewing school fences, heating the church,
"dry raining” the church basement, five classrocms of linoleum in
addition to paying the archdiocesan high school assessment—all of
which involved a dip of onmly $6,000.00 into the chancery funds. It
was clear that fresh and vigorous leadership would be needed if St.
Joseph's were to meet the demands of the future. For that reason,
the Archbishop asked the venerable pastor of St. Joseph's to resign.
Fr. Bremnan reluctantly agreed to step down from the helm on
January 11, 1951. The next day, one of his assistants, John O'Comnell.
was routinely transferred but not replaced. The Archbishop would
leave the acceptance of the new assistant up to the new pastor.

On January 17, 1951, Father Patrick J. Galvan was named sixth pastor
of St. Joseph's and was installed oo January 21, 1951. Fr. Galvan
served as pastor for sixteen and a half years.

Fr. Galvan was no stranger to St. Joseph's. Born in County
Kerry, Ireland, March 1, 1898, he finished his seimary training at
St. Patrick's Seminary in Menlo Park. Fr., Galvan's firsc assign-
ment as a priest following his ordinacion June 16, 1923, was at
St. Joseph's Berkeley. It is often said, with some truth, that a
man's first assignment as a priest always remains his greatest love.
Whecher this was the case with Fr. Galvan is open to comjecture;
conetheless, his years here were productive ones. The parish in
which he began his priestly ministry is the parish in which he was
buried.

Young Fr. Galvan served with Fr. Raymond Tilford under the
energetic leadership of Fr. Bremnan in the early years of his
pastorate. In these years Fr. Tilford organized the St. Joseph's
Boys' Choir which for years was to be one of the glories of life ac
St. Joseph's. 1In these years the old St. Joseph's Academy was
remodeled and the new St. Joseph's Presentation Academy built. Fr.
Galvan's most lasting contribution was his share in organizing the
Holy Name Society in 1524 out of the former Gentlemen's Sodality.
Another result of these years was the development of a lifelong and
mutual respect and affection between Fr. Galvan and Fr. Brennan.
Yet, never would Patrick Galvan have expected to succeed Thomas
Brennan as pastor of Berkeley. In 1927, Galvan was transferred to
St. Francis Church in San Francisco where he served under Fr. Pacrick
Collopy, another former assistant at St. Joseph's. After serving
at St. Kevin's in San Francisco, Patrick Galvan was named pastor of
St. Joseph of Cupertino Church in Cupertino. After serving in this
rapidly growing suburb of Sac Jose, Fr. Galvan, oo stranger to the
needa of a vigorous parish, was named pastor of St. Joseph's in
Berkeley.

The renovation of the parish buildings was planned immediately,
yet Patrick Galvan was asked to deal with another concern within five
months of his arrival in Berkeley. Among the "new" ethnic groups
in Berkeley were large numbers of Spanish-speaking—wostly immigrants
from Mexico. Actually, Mexicans had lived in Berkeley and in St.
Jogeph's from the beginning, but as a result of political unrest in
Mexico and job opportunmities in the Bay Area, Mexicans bacame a
noticeable and important minority. The archdiocese made an attempt
to meet the special spiritual needs of the Spanish-speaking by organ-
izing the Spanish Mission Band, an organization of zealous priests
to work ameong the Spanish-speaking. Father John Garcia worked in



Berkeley, Richmond, Brentwood, and Vacaville. By the late 1940°'s
he was saying Mass every Sunday at 8:30 in the Mobilized Women's
Center in West Berkeley. On a normal Sunday he drew arocund 125
people whom he tried to catechize and strengthen in their faith.

He felt many of them were drifting from the faith (as much the
result of neglect by the Anglo clergy as anything else). In his
report to the Archbishop in May of 1951, Father Garcia detailed

the results of his ministry, the needs of the people, and the desir-
ability of a mission church in West Berkeley to serve the Spanish-
speaking who were living in large numbers west of San Pablo Avenue.

The Archbishop's office responded to the report by asking
Fr. Galvano to look around the area for a possible site for a mission
church and to send in his recommendations. Fr. Galvan responded
that the needs of the Spanish-speaking had to be seen on a broader
picture than just West Berkeley, that Albany and Richmond would
better serve the needs of the people, that the rezoning of West
Berkeley for industrial use would reduce the residents of the area,
that the Mexicans were not the only ethnic group to whom the Church
should minister, and that the renovation plans of St. Joseph's
would preclude any new division or major undertaking within St.
Joseph's Parish. Whether as a result of Galvan's response or for
wvhatever reasoun, the mission church was not built and in time the
miniscry of the Mission Band in West Berkeley closed. Intention-
ally or not, Galvan's response to the issues raised by Father
Garcia set the pactern for the reaction of St. Joseph's Church
to the spiritual needs of all ethnic groups. As Berkeley's popu-
lation became more diverse and many different ethnic groups gained
in numbers—many of them traditionally Catholic-—the parish did not
encourage separate ministries or special attention to meet the
needs of individual groups. Racher, all Catholics, of whatever
race or natiomality, were offered the traditional organizatioms,
services, and schools of St. Joseph's Church for their spiritual
welfare. A desire to discourage separatism and to unify all the
Catholics of the area won out over the effort to meet the special
needs of minority groups. Even though Galvan offered to rearrange
the Mass schedule at St. Joseph's to allow for a Mass for the
"Mexican speaking people,” his suggestion was oot put into effect
until the 1570's, and only then through the effort of Father Bernard
Moran. For many years, Mexicans, Filipimos, Blacks, Asians, and
others would share, and be welcomed, in the life of St. Joseph's,
as they participated in the heretofore white, Anglo mainstream of
the parish which dominaced every aspect of parish life.

As noted, a factor in Fr. Galvan's decision not to encourage a
mission church in West Berkeley was the critical need of the parish
to use what resources it had to refurbish the deteriorating build-
ings of the parish. St. Joseph's Church had had no major removation

work since its constructiom in 1907. Alchough the church had been
regularly painted, and repairs were made, no major work was needed.
The high school building, which at that time still belonged to the
parish, was also badly in need of renovation. The most serious
problem was that of the old "boys' school." The wooden building
erected in 1912 was becoming a hazard and was inadequate to meet the
physical and educational needs of the children of Berkeley. The
unavailability of building materizl during wartime rationing
prevented wuch needed repair and upkeep. Once the war emded, Fr.
Brennan was too old to undertake such a major project. The lot
fell to Fr. Galvan.



Patrick Galvan plunged into the removation emterprise with
great energy. By the end of 1951, he had spent §71,000 renovating
the high achool and $26,000 on the church. The work on the high
school included a new roof, water heating system, lighting system,
new cafeteria and aquipment, new lockers, desks and blackboards, and
paint inside and out, The church was also given a new roof, repair
work to the towers, new tile floor, pews refinished, baptiscry,
pamphlet room, bathroom, crying rocom, along with the repainting of
the inside and outside of the church. The beautiful trompe l'oeil
art work of the church interior was done by the architect Paul Ryan
and, though worn by age, graces the church today. Facher Galvan also
made necessary repairs and improvements to the rectory coscing
$10,000. g

With these projects out of the way, Galvan set about on the
major endeavor of his early years at St. Joseph's—the complete
rebuilding of St. Joseph's Elementary School. The old school was
actually two buildings. The main building, facing on Jeffarson
Street, had been built in 1912 as the main classroom of the boys'
school. Just east of this building ("behind it") stood a smaller
building, the first floor of which was the original St. Peter's Boys'
School erected by Fr. Pierce Comerford im 188l1. A large room had
been erected as a second story and was famililarly known as The Blue
Room. The Blue Room was connected to the main school building by
means of a corridor at che second story. In June 1953, work began
on cthe erection of the new St. Joseph's Elementary School. The
smaller building containing the old St. Peter's Boys' School and
The Blue Room was demolished. The 1912 building was reduced to its
shell and rebuilt into the present elementary school. A foyer,
office complex, and classroom were added at the north end, toward
the church. The original building was remodeled with three class-
rooms, library, faculty, and storage rooms dowastairs and the renewed
Marian Hall upstairs. Four more classtooms were built adjoining to
the gsouth. Although the company of Ryan and Lee, Architects, had
contracted for a proposed cost of $195,000, the actusl cost came
to $257,441.98. By May of 1954, the work was finished. The
blessing and dedication of the new school served as the celebration
of the parish's Diamond Jubilee. At 11:00 a.m. on May 16, 1954,
Bishop Hugh Donchoe presided at a Solemn High Mass commemorating
the establishmenc of the parish 75 years before. At 2:00 p.=m.
Bishop Donchoe blessed and dedicated the new school in the presence
of a large crowd of priests, sisters, and parishioners. Fr. James
Browvn (made a Monsignor the following November), Archdiocesan Super-
iptendent of Schools and a graduate of St. Joseph's School, spoka at
the dedication. The joyful festivities of the Jubilee celebration
and the dedicacion of the school coincided with the kick-off of the
St. Joseph's Parish Improvement Campaign, a2lse known as the Jubilae
Campaign. The near complete overhaul of 5t. Joseph's Church and
gchools in the first three years of Fr, Galvan's pastorate had not
only consumed the nearly $100,000 the parish had on account with
the archdiocese, but also left the parish with a debt of $281,000.
Fr. Galvan contracted the Charles J. Francis Company of Kansas City,
Missouri and San Francisco as professicnal direcctors of the fund-
raising campaign. The monetary goal of the campaign was a "bare
minimum of $100,000." On April 25, 1954, Fr. Galvan announced the
campaign to the people of the parish. Twenty group leaders organ-
ized 360 parish workers to canvass the parish on Sunday, May 23,
1954, to secure contributions and/or pledges over a 36-month period.

Fr. Galvan was Honorary Chairman and Treasurer of the campaign.
The General Chairman was Frank M. Javete, and Associate Chairmen
were Rev. Richard Curtis, Rev. Thomas Bremnan, George Warrem, and
Mrs. Lucy Gelder, Ralph Bremnan and Al Giovannoni headed the
speclal contributions committee. The auditing co-chairmen were
Rev. Robert Duryea, Frank Behounek, J. C. Elsken, Willard Snyder,
and A, F, Nikolai. L. B. Allen was publicity director, and Louis
Ravizza was meeting director. The four organization directors were
James Garvey, E. P. Bartletrt, Mrs. F. J. Behounek, and Mrs. George
Freitas (our current parish council president).



The twenty group leaders were 5id Acton, Paul De Smidt, Larty
Laufenberg, John Gray, Charles Hammons, Lee Hearney, Frank Morris,
Edward Kelly, Larry Olsom, John Polan, Mrs. Mary Allem, Mrs. E. P.
Bartlect, Mary McKenna, Bea McVaney, Agnes Warren, Mrs. Elizabeth
Emery, Helen Hammons, Jean Lynch, Olga Noonan, and Elizabeth Reed.

The literally hundrads of parishioners who worked together in
May and June 1954—many of them long~time active parishioners and
many new to active involvement—gave new impetus to lay activity
and lay participation in the parish that would characterize St.
Joseph's throughout the 1950's and 1960's and continue its reputa~
tion as one of the model parishes of the archdiocese. Fr. Galvan
encouraged this involvement and in many ways the history of the
remajinder of his pastorate is the story of his support of lay activ-
ity in the parish.

* k k Kk *

WE EAVE TEHE PLEASURE TRIS MONTH ... of having two articles by Father
Morrison. Thig, the firsct, tells the stories behind something at

St. Joseph's that is very familiar to all of us—the set of beautiful
stained glass windows that have graced our church building since its
erection 71 years ago. The beauty of the windows is equaled by the
beauty of the lives of the people whose names on plaques beneath the
stained glass call them to our memory. For many of us who never
thought to wonder at who these people might be, the article which
follows will bring to life yet another aspect of this parish so often
taken for granted.

—-—-"Berkeley should boast of Catholic Church buildings better than the
best. Noble and dignified buildings are a sign of noble and dignified
pecple.” With this ideal set before his people, Dr. Francis X.
Morrison went about the erection of 5t. Joseph's Church for which
ground was broken in June 1907. Dr. Morrison envisioned a church

which would reflect not only the increasing size and substance of
the Catholic community but alse the character of Berkeley, "a cul-
tured and an enlightened towm" noted for its "love for, and appreci-
arion of architectural dignity."

For all his idealism, Morrison was very conscious of the limitations
with which he had to deal. The Catholies of Berkeley were mostly
working class people, few of whom had any real wealth. He wanted
the church te reflect the efforts and expectations of all of his
parishioners, yet did not want to saddle them with a crippling and
unmanageable debt. The 'grandeur' of St. Joseph's Church reflects
not only Dr. Morrison's vision and idealism but also his restraint
and realism.

Morrison wished the church building to be the work of all the people
so that "each parishiouner will have a share in the honor" of having
erected it.

The interior details and appointments, "those things that tend to the
beauty of the house of God," he left to the generosity of individual
donors. Morrison wanted nothing but the best for St. Joseph's. He
personally supervised the selection and formation of each feature of
the church. The marble altar he envisaged never materialized, yet
the magnificent stained giass he commissioned for the main windows

of cthe church was installed and remains the most beautiful feature

of St. Joseph's Church.



As the church was built, and until the debt could be reduced and gifts
secured, the large square windows of the church were filled with
opaque glass. Dr. Morrison commissioned Mayer & Co. of Munich,
Germany to design and fashion the stained glass windows. Mayer & Co.
were considered ome of the finest stained glass manufacryrers in the
world. According to a 1917 advertisement, the company was responsible
for the glass in the cachedrals "and most of che prominent churches"
of almost two dozen American dioceses. The company had installed rhe
windows in St. Mary's Cathedral, San Francisco, and in St. Francis de
Sales Church in Oakland during the 1890's.

There were ten windows to fill. Two huge windows in the east and

west transepts and four om each side of the nmave. Morrison chose
colorful and descriptive scenes fyom the life of Christ which would
appeal especlally to children "who learn there the lessons of scripture
in them in a manner that they shall cever forger." The general effect
which the pastor desired was that "the chaste beauty of design, the
lifelike glass—all conspire te reach down to the quiet places of the
soul and stir the emocions with a gentle but effective hand."

Dr. Morrison took a personal interest in making sure that the windows
were correct for the church. In the winrer of 1911 he was suddenly

called east to attend to his dying father, From there he traveled

to Rome where he srayed at the seminary of his homaland, the Canadian
College. He asked permiseion of Archbishop Patrick Risrdan of San
Francisco to extend his leave so he could go to Munich to supervise
the work on Berkeley's windows. By Jume 1911, both the pastor and
the first set of windows had arrived in Barkeley.

The two large transepr windows were insralled first to gauge che
effect of the new glass upon the natural lighting of the church
interior. These windows darkemed the church considerably. There-
fore, adjustments were made in the borders and "emblematic wark" to
lighten the effect of the windows.

Over a year passed before all of the windows had beem instailled. By
December 1912 the pastor could announce to his people that "all who
have seen our new windows are generous in their praise and it ia no
amall pleasure for us to know that our own people are so well pleased
wich the result of our own choice.” He went on to asay chat once the
upper windows were set in place, "it will not be easy ro find a more
beautiful church than we will have here in Berkeley."

Though the design and execution were the work of the Mayer Company of
Munich under the direccion of Dr. Morrison, the windows themselvea
ware pald for by individual pecple as gifts te the church or in memory
of loved ones. These benefactors came from all segments of parish
life and their stories add color to the history of St. Joseph's.

The great Nativity window in the east transept was the gift of Mrs.
Sarah Cromer. This writer was unable to uncover anything in any
parish records concerning Mrs. Cromer. Hustad's City Direccory for
1907 tells us, however, that Mrs. Sarah Cromer lived at 1440 Henry
Street in Berkeley. Was she a widow? A woman who lived alone? Was
she one of those innumerable devout women who through the years have
come faithfully to church te pray and yet are unknowm to the rest of
the communiry? Whoever she was, in her genergaity she has given St.
Joseph's its most beautiful and treasured window.

The next window i3 thac of the "Child Jesus Amid the Teachers in tche
Temple.” This window was a gift of Madame Emma de Lemascheffsky in
memory of her husband Paul Julius de Lemascheffsky, who held the rank
of Commodore in the Imperial Russian Navy. The Lemascheffskys had
taken up residence in Berkeley and had become close friends of Dr.
Morrison, who received them into the Catholic Church April 15, 1908.
Soon thereafrer, the Commodore and his wife left for Europe to care
for her health. Having arrived i{n Munich, the Commodore, rather than
his wife, took i1l and died January 3, 1910. Madame de Lemascheffsky
eracted this window in his memory. Dr. Morrison'’s friendship and
their generosity to his church recall the pastor's courtly bearing
and social prominence. It was a source of pride to Berkeley's



beleaguered Catholics that their pastor dined regularly with the
likes of Benjamin Ide Wheeler, President of the University of Cali-
fornia, and was received into the "finest homes in Berkeley.”

_"Jesus Teaching the Children was donated in memory of Joseph and

Mary Brennan. When first trying to track down the identity of the
donors of the windows, the present writer was of the opinion that
Joseph and Mary Brennan had to be members of the large and histori-
cally important Brepnan family of West Berkeley. The Brennan brothers,
Edward and John, were early residents of Berkeley, f£irst working for
Michael Curtis on his farm, then marrying his daughters and opening

a livery stable at University and Second-Street. The Brennan and
Curtis families merged. Edward Brennan married Josephine Curtis

(and had eleven children). John Brennan married Anne Curtis (their
marriage on April 29, 1879, is the first entry in the parish mar-
riage register), and upon her death eight years later, he married her
gister, Teresa Curtis. The Brennans have continued prominent in the
business life of Berkeley and faithful friends of St. Joseph's Parish.

A search of the Brennan genealogy in the records of St. Joseph's
Church and inquiries among members of the family produced no "Joseph
and Mary Brennan". Then, in the archives of the Archdiocese of San
Francisco were discovered the names of Joseph and Mary Fennelly Bren-
nan, residents of Derryfadda, Parish of Moyne, County Tipperary, Ire-~
lapd --- parents of Thomas Joseph Brennan who until August 1811, the
time the windows were being installed, was the assistant pastor of

St. Joseph's Church. Little must he have thought when he donated this
window in memory of his parents in 1911, that he would return to this
parish and serve as pastor for thirty years.

"Jesus and the Penitent Woman" was erected in memory of James and
Catherine McGee, the most important benefactors of St. Joseph's Par-
ish. The McGees were among the solid Irish immigrants --- such as

the Curtises, the Mathews, the Higginses, the McAvoys, the Dupnnigans
—— who had bought land north of Cakland in the 1850's and 1860's.

The McGee farm at one time covered all the land bounded by Addison
Street and Dwight Way, Grove Street and Sacramento Street -— 160
acres in the center of Berkeley. A devout Catholic, McGee gave 2.7
acres at the northwest corner of his property to Mother Teresa Comer-
ford to found a convent school for girls. This gift was the tangible
beginning of what became St. Joseph's Parish and Schools. McGee was
as generous a public citizen as he was a Catholic. He was a member of
the first board of trustees of the newly incorporated town of Berke-
ley. He offered to donate land for the location of the Berkeley Town
Hall, and it is an interesting coincidence that the present City Hall
of Berkeley sits on what was once the northeast corner of McGee's
land. McGee's genercosity to St. Joseph's was continuous. After 1B77,
he donated other parcels of land to the church and was continually

generous with money. The

sanctuary lamp which hung in both the cld and new St. Joseph's churches
was a token of his generosity. Every day, young Jack Cain carried
pails of milk from the McGee farm at McGee and Dwight to cthe convent—
another act of McGee generosity.

Catherine Rusk McGee died one month before the comveat building was
dedicated in Junme of 1878, and James McGee died in 1895. His
daughters Catherine and Mary Ann lived om until 1940, both dying in
the same year, nearly penniless. The McGee family rests today in am
unmarked grave in St. Mary's Cemetery in Oakland, the last remaining
space in the plot exchanged for the cost of Catherine McGee's funeral.
The poverty of the McGee sisters at their deaths is an ironic commen=
tary on the exemplary generosity of the McGee family to the Church.
Aside from the land upon which the church and schools are built, the
window in memory of James and Catherine McGee serves as the most
visible reminder of these generous bemefactors of Saimt Joseph's.



The next two windows, "Jesus Calms the Storm on the Lake" and "The
Transfiguration" are partially hidden by confessionals. No plaques
remain to tell us who, if anyone, donated these windows. In their
beauty and anonymity, they remind us of all of the unknown or forgotten
people who did so much over the years to make St. Joseph's what it has
been.

"The Last Supper” window was donated in memory of Henry and Eliza
Spilman, the grandparents of Marian Wallace of the parish, who told
us the story of the window. The window was the gift of Mary A.
("Minnie") Spilman in homor of her parents. Mipnie never married but
lived with her sister and brother-in-law, Mr. and Mrs. Wallace, on
Rincon Hill. Minnie's niece, our Marian Wallace, remembers vividly
the family being burned out of their home in the earthquake and fire
of 1906. The family fled to Berkeley where they sertled on Roosevelt
Street. Minnie's life centered around her work in the book repair
department of the Oakland Public Library and her church. Minnie's
gift of the window out of her slender earnings at the library was
considered an extravagance by other members of the family who felt
that 1f che cost were spread smong them all it could be handled more
reasonably. But Minnie made the gift on her own in honor of her
mother and father, mot telling the rest of the family what she had
done untill after the window was installed.

The window of "The Agouy in the Garden" is in memory of Margaret
Gallagher, the late wife of Francis E. Gallagher. A Welshman by birth
and a chemisc by profession, Francis Gallagher came to California from
Massachusetts in 1879. He was employed in several chemical plants and
powder works in northern California before becoming a well-known offi-
cial of the Hercules Powder Plant. At the time of his death in
December 1936, Gallagher, a long=-time resident of Berkeley, was
described as "a man of ability, a noble character, a loving father,

an exemplary citizen, and a sincere churchman." Of his eight chil-
dren, his son, Thomas Gallagher, worked in the University of Cali~
fornia News Service and a daughter became Sister Irene of the Holy
Family Community which through the years has contributed so much to
the religious education of the young in St. Joseph's Parish. Mrs.
Gallagher died thirty-five years before her husband and it was to her
memory that he donated this window to the church.

The window of "Jesus Before Pilate" was donated in memory of Richard
and Johnina Moore. Richard Moore had come from Ireland and married
Johnina McDonald, ome of the nine daughters of Domald and Mary
McDonald. The McDonald "cousins” were so numerous it was said that
one could never say anything in Berkeley about a McDonald for fear of
discovering that one was speaking to a relative of theirs. Richard
and Johnina Moore produced twelve children (according to the writer's
count), among whom were Steven Moore, the well-lmown Berkeley druggist,
and Mrs. William Lindblad, whose three children and thirty-ome grand-
children have had a large share in the life of St. Joseph's down to
the present day. The Moore window symbolizes the number of families,
whose abundance of children, commitment to family life, and devotion
to St. Joseph's have been for successive generations the backbone of
our parish.

The last window, and one of the two largest, "The Resurrection™ in the
west rransept, was donated in memory of James McManus, an early Oakland
undertaker whose wortuary business has passed down through successive
hands to the present day. It is said that James McManus' first busi-
ness was a livery stable, but, as he had the only horse and wagon
around, he took om funerals. McManus' firm developed into Freeman,
McManus, Roach and Cox with a branch in Berkeley at Grove and Haste
Streets. Though the owmership of the firm has changed hands a number
of times, it is stlll doing business as Del Reynolds Bayview Chapel.



It is somewhat ironic—and probably intentional—that as one ponders
the mystery represented in the beautiful Resurrection window, one's
eyes should fall on the name James McManus, whose firm and its succes-
sors have cared for so many St. Joseph's parishioners as they have
departed this life. It is this Resurrection window, too, that bears
another name—Mayer & Co., Munich—the signature windew identifying
the master craftsmen who created these works of art.

These windows have inspired the souls of generations of Berkeley's
Catholics and the passing years have proven true the words of Dr.
Morrison: "In the passing years, thousands will come in and kmeel in
our church. And lmeeling they will look up and their eyes will resc
upon these windows and their prayers will be quickened and their
spirits will be soothed and they will bless the Art thar is able thus
to speak through those silenr figures to the deep places of the soul.
They will think too, it may be, of the ones who set up these windows

and they will reflect how good and fitting a thing it was to have
done so. And it will be that many a good prayer will go up for
these, for we cannot fail to remember amnd pray for those who have
done us good."
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THE HISTORY OF ST. JOSEPH'S ...
PART XI—The Pastorate of Patrick J. Galvan (Part II), Sixth Pastor,
1951-1967. By Father Harry B. Morrisom.

If continuity in the midst of change characterized the closing
years of Father Brennan's pastorate and the copening years of Father
Galvan's administration, change in the midst of change characterized
the rest of the 1950's and 1960's at St. Joseph's. The change occurred
on all fronts: in the cultural, social, and political climate of
Berkeley, in shifts of population in neighborhoods, in the dramatic
decline of the number of parishioners, in the development of the life
of the Berkeley Presentation Community, in che redefinition of the
parish boundaries, and in the aggiornamento and change within the
1ife of the Catholic Church. All of these factors occurred together,
at first imperceptibly, but in time so overvhelmingly that no one
would be unaffected by the change. The response of the people of St.
Joseph's to these changes was varied. Some people moved away, some
withdrew from active participation in the parish, and some remained
. to adjust to change and to seek in St. Joseph's, 1f not a source of
continuity in the midst of change, at least a source of meaning in
life in the face of change.

Through the 1950's, life at St. Joseph's was remarkably peaceful
and stable. In September 1953 Father Robert Duryea was assigned as
assistant at St. Joseph's, joined the following summer by Father Frank
Maurovich. Their ministry at St. Joseph's was very productive and
popular. In the present writer's months of effort to uncover the
history of St. Joseph's Parish, with the possible exception of Dr.

F. X. Morrison, he has found no priest spoken of so highly and so
consistently as Father Robert Duryea. In June 1961, after nearly eight
years at St. Joseph's, Father Duryea was transferred to 0'Conncr
Hospital in San Jose as chaplain. Throughout this period, life in the
rectory—£from the Irish good nature of Father Galvan, to the wik,
intelligence and humor of the various priests in residence, to the
cooking and personal care of Ruth Brown—was noted for its open spirit
and gemerous hospitality to priest and people alike. But in spite of
the "goodness of 1ife" at St. Joseph's, the parish was forced to come
to terms with change.

The City of Berkeley, a conservative, homogeneous college town
through the 1920's and 1930's, grew by 32,000 people between 1940 and
1950. Large numbers of these were Blacks. The G.I. Bill and the



unrestricted growch of the university raised the student population
from 4% of the population in 1940 to over 19% by 1960. Berkeley's
stable, middle class, homogeneous character had been governed by

the Republican business intarests of the city. The "chamber of
commerce" approach to city govermment came apart at the sesms.

Unable or unwilling to face squarely the issues raised by the

council remained increasingly ineffective as low quality apartment
buildings sprang up in vacant lots all over Berkeley and fine ald
homes were divided up into what were called "rabbit warrems" to house
the glut of new population. The invasion of the automobile signaled
the death of the Key Route System and other forms of public transpor-
tation around which the city had developed. The coming of the auto-
mobille and the collapse of public transportation severely altered

the traditionmal social fabric of Berkeley's neighborhoods.

Republican hegemony gave way to public dissatisfaction with
what was perceived as the erosion of the gquality of lifa or the
unwillingness of established interests to deal with necessary social
change. The city of Berkeley was firmiy in the grips of the conserva-
tive Republican establishment as lace as 1950 but by 1961 the pendu-
lum had swung full circle as Berkeley's politics became dominated by
one of the most liberal city councils in the country and Berkeley was
well on its way to becoming the vanguard of social change in the
United States. Throughout the 1950's, St. Joseph's continued its
traditional role .of attempting to be a source of continuity and social
integration in the face of change and social disunity. As the
minority Black and Asian population grew in size, increasing oumbers
took part in St. Joseph's Parish and schools. By 1960 Blacks accounted
for 142 of cthe parish population and 18X of the enrollment in the
elementary and high schools.

Most of the change in Berkeley had occurred in the broad central
plain of the city, which was the whole of St. Joseph's Parish. As
the traditional neighborhocds of the city began to be profoundly
affected by social and political change in Berkeley, many Berkeley
residents moved away. As noted before, the greatest change occurred
in the flatlands of Berkeley around St. Joseph's, an area predomi-
nantly middle class and heavily Catholic. As the homogeneity of the
area disintegrated, increasing numbers of Berkeley's Catholics moved
to suburban Contra Costa County or elsewhere. This migration had
little tangible affect oo St. Joseph's at first, as new families
woved into the parish to replace them. But by the 1960's the decline
in parish population became noticeable. This decline was highlighted
by the establishment of the Bay Area Rapid Tranmsit System. This
system of mass urban transportation approved by the voters of Alameda.
Contra Costa, and San Francisco counties in 1962, acquired acreage for
tracks throughout the intercounty area. Fourteen square blocks af
north central Berkeley, through the heavily Cacholic core of St.

Joseph's parish, were demolished. The loss of these homes and
parishioners was a severe blow to St. Joseph's and emphasized the
decline of the parish.

Father Galvan was not one to look to the negative side of life,
and throughout his pastorate he locked to the development of the
parish and its plamtc. In 1955 and 1960 he bought lots om McGee
Street to add space behind the existing rectory and to provide much
needed playground space for the school. By the late 1950's, the
old rectory, the main part of which dated from 1879, was becoming
uninhabitabla. St. Joseph's had for decades housed a number of
priests, a pastor, two assistants and a steady stream of scholar-
residents studying in the various departments of the University.

It was decided to erect a new and spacious rectory capable of housing
five or more priests in roomy comfort. Designed by architect Paul
Ryan to match the church and built around a beautiful gardem facing
the east side of the church, the rectory was built in 1961 at a cost
of just under 5175,000. The installation of a new culvert for Straw-
berry Creek and regular work on the church, elementary, and high
schools continued che maintenance dutles of the pastor.



As Father Galvan entered his final yearsa, his duties did not
let up. Soon after the completion of the rectory, further changes
affectad the life of St. Joseph's. In early 1962 the old Archdiocese
of San Francisco was broken up into four smaller jurisdictions upon
the death of Archbishop John Mitty the previous year. St. Joseph's
became part of the newly established Diocese of Oskland, with Bishop
Floyd L. Begin as its head. The initiacion of the Free Speech Move-
ment at the University of Califormia in October 1964 brought
Berkeley's political shift to the left to mational attention and made
Berkeley a household word for radicalism. It is Interesting to note
that as the University of California was embroiled in a controversy
of far-reaching implications, the founder and spearhead of the Free
Speech Movement, Mario Savio, living several doors dowm from St.
Joseph's Church, was engaged in & cordial relationship with the lindly
old Irish pastor of St. Joseph's. These regular, friendly comnversa-
tions between Savio and Patrick Galvan must have been far removed in
spirit and tone from the noisy demonstrations in Sproul Plaza and
serve to highlight che iromic, human, and often friendly coexistence
of the "two Berkeleys" during these troubled years. Developing concerms
of St. Joseph's Parish and of the new bishop were: the status of Newman
Ball, serving the university and located simce 1906 within the bowm-
daries of St. Joseph's Parish, the decerioration of the old Presenta-
tion Convent and the status of St. Joseph's High School, and the
increasing need to renovate and restore St. Joseph's Church.

The early history of the Newman Club and Newman Hall and their
relation to St. Joseph's have been described im our August and September

pewslecters. The beautiful Berkeley Tudor Chapel and center at
Hearst Avenue and Ridge Road was not a parish but, rather, a socizl
and religious center for the Catholics of the University, runm by the
Paulist Fathers. The rich endowment anticipated by Archbishop
Pacrick Riordan, the founder, never materialized. It was never
expected that Newman could be self-supporting through the donmatious
of students. The generosity and suppert of Archbishops Riordan and
Edward Hanna kept Newman Hall afloat for nearly three decades. The
Paulists survived on a share of Community Chest fumds, weager dona-
tions from students and friends, the gifts of the Paulists themselves
and the archdiocesan subsidy. As part of the financial belt-
tightening John Mitty initiated, on becoming Archbishop ‘of San
Francisco, the archdiccesan subsidy of Newman Hall was suddenly
dropped in October 1935. The Paulists were left high and dry.
Fathers Louis 0'Hara and Thomas Burke, C.S.P. struggled valiantly to
make ends meet. Their ipitiatives and pleas met with deaf ears at
the chancery.

In October 1935, Father O'Hara outlined for Archbishop Mitty an
ambitious educational plan discussed by the Paulists, Archbishop
Hanna, and members of the University administration for a cultural
center of Catholic scholars with an endowment of at least a milliom
dollars to be run by the Paulists and known as "The Hanna Foundatiom."
The archbishop's council had shelved the idea as impractical at the
time.

In a further effort to find financial relief for the beleaguered
Newman Hall, Father O'Hara requested in January 1936 that Newman be
made a parish. In a letter to Monsignor Charles A. Ramm, graduate
and regent of the University and a member of the archbishop's council,
0'Hara wrote: "There seems to be no other way to finance it and to
carry on its work properly. His Excellency advised us to present our
request in writing and have him submit it to the council. T wiil
appreciate it greatly if you will say a word in its favor, because as
far as I can see, the only satisfactory arraungement for Newman Hall
is to make it an activity comnnected with a canonically established
parish, thus insuring its status and its fucture." His proposal would
establish everything east of Shattuck Avenue from Vine to Russell as
a new parish. Within a month, Ramm replied that the council had
rejected the Paulist proposal. The following October, Father O'Hara



again requested the archbishop's permission to pursue the Hamna Founda-
tion plan (now known as the Newman Foundation) in an effort to render
the Paulist ministry secure and productive. The archbishop's response
to O'Hara's plans and prospectus was curt and definite: "I am a bit
surprised that you should go ahead with a proposition of this kind
vithout explicit permission from me. . . . I direct that you cease

any activities concerning this project until you receive explicit
approval from me." This approval never came.

The plight of the Paulists involved St. Joseph's. Newman Hall
was within the boundaries of St. Joseph's Parish. Parishioners were
discouraged from frequenting the Paulists for Mass, yet the adminis-
tration of the sacraments at Newman, especially the sacrament of
matrimony, was tachnically the right and privilege of the pastor of
S5t. Joseph's. University students and alummi or friends of the
Pauliscs had to secure the permission of the archdiocesan chancery
to have weddings at Newman Hall, With restrictions, this permission
was granted, provided the stipend, or fee, for the wedding was passed
on to the pastor of 5t. Joseph's. Newman Ball was functioning in
many ways ag a parish within a parish, yet having none of the rights
and privileges of a parish. Most gignificantly, the Paulists had
none of the financial stability parochial status offered. Under
later Paulists, especially Father Francis Guinan, relations between
Newman and Archbishop Mitty improved, yet the question of parochial
status was not resolved. It fell to the new Bishop of Qakland to
secttle the issue. By the 1960's the famous old building at Hearst
and Ridge Road was becoming inadequate. 1Its site, across the street
from Founders' Rock, was directly in the path of planned umiversity
expansion. As most undergraduate student housing was located south
of the campus, it was decided te relocate. Bishop Begin agreed to
this plan and also agreed, facefully, that parochial status was neces-
gary to render Newman Hall security for the future. In 1967, the new
Neuman Hall was erected at Dwight Way and College Avenue as Holy
Spirit Parish, severing St. Josph's Parish "in half" at Shattuck
Aveanue. The boon to the Paulists was considered a disaster by the
parishioners of already declining St. Joseph's.

Bishop Begin also had to face the issue of the dilapidation of
the historic old Presentation Convent and the status of St. Joseph's
High School. Soon after Begin's arrival in Oakland, Mother Mary
Ursula of the Presentation Sisters wrote to the bishop expressing the
strong desire of her council that the old convent be demolished as
soon 28 possible and a new convent be built. Incerestingly, one of
Mocher Ursula's strong fears was that of fire. Bishop Begin did not
feel that immediate demolition was the only option, and recommended
that cool heads prevail and that the old buildings be maintained
until the future of the Presentation Community at St. Joseph's and
at St. Columba's could be clearly analyzed. A factor here was the
status of the high school. The school, and the land upon which it
stood, was the property of the parish, run by the Sisters of the
Presentation. As the years went by, the parish was sinking larger
sums of money into maintenance from dwindling resources, while more
and more students were coming from outside St. Joseph's Parish. It
vas decided to remove the high school from the care of the parish and
give it to the Sisters of the Presentation as Presentation High School,
a private, nonparochial school. Into the bargain, a new convent was
to be built south of the high school on land the diocese-parish gave
to the Sisters,



By late spring 1966 the new convent was ready for occupancy
and the old convent was abandoned. The first week in June, the
accumulated furnishings of ninety years were put up for aucticn,
with which an era in Berkeley educarion came to an end. The night
following the auction and the night before the scheduled demolition
of the building a spectacular fire broke out which totally destroyed
the old convent. Though police records are supposed to contain
the confessions of the arsonist, or arsomists, the insurance company
took the Sisters to court, accusing them of torching their owm
abandoned building. In any event, the insurance company never paid
on the claim.

The final significant avent of Father Galvan's pastorate was
the rescoration of St. Joseph's Church. By the 1960's St. Joseph's
Church was again showing signs of age. Although the question was
raised of demolishing the old structure in favor of a smaller struc—
ture, easier to maintain and supposedly more suitable for the future
needs of the parish, the decision was made to restore the old build-
ing. Some work was done on the interior, though the major effort was
the complere renovation of the exterior of the church. For the third
time in his pastorate, by-this-cime-Monsignor Galvan embarked onm an
ambitious building-renovation wventura. Steel supports were placed in
the walls of the strnicture, the external details were slightly
modified to conform to modern taste, the towers were plared with
copper and the crosses on top were gilded. The entire exterior was
coated in stucco. On Sunday, October 30, 1966, Bishop Floyd L. Begin
and the parish community celebrated the rededication of the
renovared church—-and with it, the parish—to St. Joseph under the
new name of St. Joseph the Worlman. Soon thereafter Monsignor Galvan
recired and Father Bernard Moran became adminiscrator of St. Joseph's.
Though pared down in number of parishioners, in extent of territory,
and in number of buildings, the rededication of St. Joseph's Parish
gerved to redirect its focus to the future. In 1970 Rev. Patrick
Kearney became pastor of St. Joseph's followed in 1973 by Rev. )
William O'Donnell. But their stories will have to await some future
hisctory of St. Joseph the Workman Parish.
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Saint Joseph the Worlgman Porish
Berkgley, California
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CENTENNIAL
1879 — 1979

God of all ages,

Your Son, Jesus Christ, unites us all info a community of
faith. Through ail generations you have watched over your
people, filled their lives with light and peace and raised up
new iife fo witness to your truth.

Father, with your loving honds you formed the beatutiful
hills and plains which border San Francisco Bay and over-
look the Golden Gate, drawing our minds to the marveis of
your craation. In fime, rou drew people to this place to piy
the bay, to plant the fields, o work together and to build up
Q great university that our human minds and noble effort
might uncover your truth. A great city has grown herse, @
community of diverse peoples.

One hundred years ogo, our predecessors in the faith
formed in Berkeley the parish community of St. Joseph.
They worked and sacrificed to build up the church and
schools through which you have nourished us these many
years, Generations of committed Catholics roised and
educated here are our proudest and most lasting heritage.
Father, we thank you for all these gifts. Renew your iife in
us. Grant that this community which has shared so bounti-
fully in your blessings may persevere with joy in ifs mis-
sion; that through us the presence of your Son, Jesus
Christ, may confinue to be proclaimed in our homas, in our
city and in our world.

Aman,.

Prayer for the Centennial Year, 1978-1979
by Father Harry B. Morrison



